ANXIETY PREDICTORS ACROSS CHILD DEVELOPMENT: THE ROLE OF PARENTAL OVERPROTECTION AND CHILD LOCUS OF CONTROL

# STEPHANIE L. FUNG





#### Running Head: ANXIETY PREDICTORS IN CHILDREN

Anxiety predictors across child development:

The role of parental overprotection and child locus of control

by

© Stephanie L. Fung

A thesis submitted to the

School of Graduate Studies

in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Department of Psychology

Memorial University of Newfoundland

August 2011

St. John's

Newfoundland

#### Abstract

Parental overprotection has been previously identified as a risk factor for child anxiety. Research efforts are now focusing on the control-related cognition locus of control as a cognitive mediator to explain the relationship between parental overprotection and child anxiety. The purpose of the present study was to identify the different ages at which locus of control functions as a mediator or a moderator of the relationship between overprotection and anxiety in children. A non-clinical sample of children (N = 146) ranging in age from 7 to 19 years comprised three age groups (8-10, 12-14, and 16-18 years). Participants completed self-report measures that assessed parental overprotection. child locus of control, and child anxiety. Contrary to predictions, significant correlations between the main constructs were found only in the full sample, but not within separate age groups. The lack of statistically significant findings precluded further testing of mediation or moderation models within the age groups. However, testing of these models in the full sample suggested that a non-significant mediation model was a better fit than a moderation model. Differences in the relationships among overprotection, locus of control, and child anxiety may exist when examined across a wide age range compared to when examined by age groups and thus, further investigation with respect to the role of child age is warranted.

### Acknowledgements

I would like to extend my gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Sarah Francis, for her extraordinary guidance and support. Thank you for your patience and encouragement throughout this project.

I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Jamie Drover and Dr. Darcy Hallett, for their time, wisdom, and indispensable advice.

I would like to thank the members of the MIRIAM Lab for their support and friendship throughout this project: Valente Noël, Kristen Williams-Outerbridge, Chris Daggan, Meagan Mackenzie, Megan Short, Molody Sorenson, Kerri Bojman, and Dr. Peter Mezo. I am also very grateful to the undergraduate students who helped make the completion of this reviect roomble.

Finally, I would like to extend special thanks my family and friends who have always supported me. Thank you for being a constant source of love and encouragement.

### Table of Contents

Abstract				
Acknowledgementsi				
List of Tables				
List of Appendices				
Introduction				
Family Environment and Child Psychopathology				
Parental Overprotection and Child Psychopathology	2			
Parental Overprotection, Child Anxiety, & Methods to Assess the Relationship	4			
Role for Locus of Control	7			
The Present Study	13			
Methods	16			
Participants				
Measures	16			
Demographic Information Questionnaire	17			
"My Memories of Upbringing" Child Questionnaire (EMBU-C)	17			
"My Memories of Upbringing" Adolescent Questionnaire (EMBU-A)	18			
Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scale (RCADS) 1				
Nowicki-Strickland Locus of Control Scale for Children (NSLOC-C)	20			
Procedure	20			
Results	24			
Descriptive Statistics				
Relationships between Parental Overprotection, Child LOC, and Child Anxiety				

Effects of Child LOC on the Relation between Overprotection and Child Anxiety	32
Discussion	41
Strengths and Limitations	53
Future Directions	57
Conclusion	59
References	60
Appendices	67

## List of Tables

Table 1	Means, standard deviations, range, tests of normalcy, and internal consistencies (a) for the EMBU-C_C/O, the NSLOC-C, and the RCADS_ANX across three age groups and in the full sample	25
Table 2	Means and standard deviations for the EMBU-C Control/ Overprotection subscale, the NSLOC-C, and the RCADS anxiety composite for girls and boys across three age groups and the full sample	29
Table 3	ANOVA - Between groups comparison of Family Living Composition on the EMBU-C_C/O, the NSLOC-C, and the RCADS_ANX	30
Table 4	Correlation analyses of the EMBU-C_C/O, the NSLOC-C, and the RCADS_ANX across three age groups and the full sample	31
Table 5	Multiple regression analyses predicting the RCADS_ANX from the EMBU-C_C/O and the NSLOC-C in the full sample	35
Table 6	Multiple regression analyses predicting the RCADS_ANX from the EMBU-C_C/O, the NSLOC-C, and the interaction EMBU-C x NSLOC- C, in the full sample	37
Table 7	Correlation analyses of the EMBU-C_C/O, the NSLOC-C, and the RCADS_ANX across gender	38
Table 8	Multiple regression analyses predicting the RCADS_ANX from the EMBU-C_C/O and the NSLOC-C, in girls	39
Table 9	Multiple regression analyses predicting the RCADS_ANX from the EMBU-C_C/O, the NSLOC-C, and the interaction EMBU-C x NSLOC- C, in girls	40

# List of Appendices

Appendix A:	Demographic Information Questionnaire	67
Appendix B:	"My Memories of Upbringing" Child Questionnaire (EMBU-C)	69
Appendix C:	"My Memories of Upbringing" Adolescent Questionnaire (EMBU-A)	72
Appendix D:	Nowicki-Strickland Locus of Control Scale for Children (NSLOC-C)	75
Appendix E:	Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scale (RCADS)	79
Appendix F:	Memorial's Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research (ICEHR) Approval Letter	83
Appendix G:	Eastern School District Ethics Approval Letter	85
Appendix H:	Letter to Principals and Teachers	87
Appendix I:	Classroom Script	90
Appendix J:	Letter to Parents/Informed Consent	92
Appendix K:	Study Instructions	96
Appendix L:	Correlation analyses using anxiety subscales	98
Appendix M:	Mediation and moderation analyses using the RCADS_SAD subscale	100
Appendix N:	Mediation and moderation analyses using the RCADS_OCD subscale	102
Appendix O:	Mediation and moderation analyses using the RCADS_PD subscale	104
Appendix P:	Mediation and moderation analyses using the RCADS_SP subscale	106
Appendix Q:	Mediation and moderation analyses using the RCADS_GAD subscale.	108

# Anxiety predictors across child development: The role of parental overprotection and child locus of control

Anticity is one of the most commonly recognized forms of psychopathology in children and adolescents (McLeed, Wood, & Weize, 2007). Despite its high prevalence in children, researchers have yet to full updreadless that development of anxiety and parental overprotection (McLeod et al., 2007, Rapee, 1907). Efforts to chicdate the cognitive mellators explaining the relationship between parental overprotection and child anxiety have suggested that locus of control may be one such causal mechanism (Choppita, & Barline, 1999). While control-tated cognition have been examined previously (Choptita, Brown, & Barlow, 1998; Maria, Meesters, Schoaten, & Hoge, 2004), the current study was designed to specifically investigate the relationship between parental overprotection and child anxiety across child age, as well as to gain insight in the thor then the tors of cortend stars in the residention thermode order didhood.

#### Family Environment and Child Psychopathology

Anciety often exists as normal dovdpennetal phenomena, but in the 15-20% of children and adolescents with anxiety disorders, elevated levels of anxiety can lead to impairments in duity functioning (Beesdo, Raupe, & Pinn, 2009; Bolton et al., 2006). Elevated anxious symptomatology in children and adolescents can be concerning, especially when the levels of matrixy remain elevated and table over time. Excessive levels of associated with severe distress and can result in impairment in some dhildhood activities. In the most enterm cances, the disbloting emotions and behaviours associated with anxiety can result in a child's avoidance of developmentally related tasks for their age (Mash & Barkley, 2003).

#### Parental Overprotection and Child Psychopathology

The development of child psychopathology, including emotional disorders such as arxityl and depression, has been repeatedly linked to family environment and child upbringing (Bögds, van Oosten, Maris, & Smaddera, 2001; Karevida, Roysamh, Yatrum, & Mathiesen, 2009). Parenting variables, supedieral, 2000; Karevida, Roysamh, Yatrum, & Mathiesen, 2009). Parenting variables, supedieral, 2000; Karevida, Roysamh, Yatrum, & Mathiesen, 2009). Parenting variables, supedierally overprotectivat and controlling parenting behaviours, have been identified as some of the most empirically supported risk, factors in the development of childhood anxiety (McLeud et al., 2007; Rapec, 1997). Although many parents might consider themselves protective of their childheen, the way in which a parent demonstrates their protective behaviour an way dramatically and have significantly alforest effects on a child.

Parents can use controlling or protective behaviours in a positive way, and hose who employ a balance between crining and controlling rearing behaviours are often referred to as "authoritative" (Warash & Markstrom, 2001). The "authoritative" parenting why is characterized by give and take interactions between the parent and child such that the parent enforces a policy while providing the rationale or reasoning behind the decision. In this kind of relationship the parent uses control to help the child shape his or ber own independence without imposing excessive restrictions (Baumrind, 1966; Ontmi-Arvilonmit et al., 1998), which en encourage positive development of a child's abilities and conten skills. In contrast, come parents exert atronger control and restrictions than may seem necessary. Parental overprotection, also referred to a parental control (Rapea, 1997), indicates intravisve, restrictive behaviours from the parents that are used to protect obliften from any preceived harm. Whereas it is adaptive far parents to act protectively when their child is exposed to a dangerous situation, overprotective actions by parents can be unnecessary and maladaptive if the controlling and protective behaviours tend to appear when no real threat to the child exists. Overprotective parenting behaviours may consist of isolating a child from normal experiences (Bdogds et al., 2001), which can impact the child a stilly to develop attoenmous behaviour.

Signetend, Kendall, and Steinberg (1996) assessed whether purenting differences existed between families with a child diagnosed with an anciver disorder, and families with no ancience shiften. Parental variables, including psychological current, were assessed through thild reports, independent observers, and parent self-reports. Signedinal and colleagues found that the observers rated the families of children with anxiety disorders as less granting of psychological automoup than control families, which is consistent with previous studies suggesting that parental control and overprotection throughout endly development can be assessed with child marking VdLead et al. 2007b.

Sideridis and Kafetsios (2008) examined the effects of perceived parental overprotection on children's anxiety during tost-taking in elementary school and during class presentations in college. In the first part of the study, the elementary school aged students completed self-report questionnaires that assessed perceived parental bonding. Four of failure, anxiety, and depression. The results demonstrate that high perturbal carging students completed self-report questionnaires that assessed perceived parental bonding. scores were associated with lower levels of child anxiety, child depression, and faze of failure. The authors also noted that matemal overpredection was a significant predictor of child worry. In the second part of the study, Sideridia and Kafetnios found that college students who reported having overpredective parents had higher levels of stress and four during the presentiation, as well as poore proformance on the task.

Taken together, these findings offer support for the adverse effects that overpredective parenting behaviours can have on children's well being and psychological development. Within the body of research concerning the relationship between parental overpretection and child psychopathology, a significant fices has been part on child anxisty in particular. Especifically, it has been suggested that overpretextive behaviours by the parents are associated with the development of maxity problems in children, and as discussed by Rape (1977), there are avious methods for anseing the irelationship.

#### Parental Overprotection, Child Anxiety, & Methods to Assess the Relationship

The relationship between overprotection and child arrivery has been investigated using offspring studies, parent studies, and observational studies. Although each method has limitations and advantages, once of the benefits of using different research methods is that recurring trends between methods may be considered to have more reliability and construct validity has use individual method (Riefringer & Lee 2000).

The most common method of assessing the relationship between parents and their children is through the use of offspring stadies in which quositionaires about childrearing practices are administered to offspring. This method can either be used with childrea who usess their parent? current behaviour, eadils who retropocrively assess their actions the current behaviour. parents' behavious. For example, in a self-report study, Bógels and collegues (2001) sampled clinical and non-clinical groups of children to examine their perceptions of their parents' current childrenning behaviours. The children were also assessed on ratings of their own levels of social anxiety. Albough the results were inconclusive, they suggested that non-clinical children did not differ significantly from the clinical children with respect to perceived parental overprotection. However, the analyses did show that overall perceived maternal overprotection was predictive of social anxiety in children. Another self-report study by Maris, Messeters, and van Brukel (2003) used a sample of nonclinical children and adolescents to investigate the relationship between perceived parental rearing behaviours and children's anxiety symptoms. Significant relationships were noted between parental vereprotection and child anxiety symptoms. Specifically, analyses revealed that negative rearing behaviours by the parents, such as rejection and overpotection, were predictive data fuel to hildren.

While the most common method of assessing rentring practices is offpring reports, the type of offspring, report varies between retrospective reports by adults about their past experiences, and child reports about their current experiences. Retrospective reports by adults of perceived parental behaviours are more common than child report of their parent's current rearing practices. However, this retrospective method has been criticized for its limitations, such as the possibility that an observation may only represent a correlation between the reporter's current symptoms and their integretation of past events, rather than an accurate portray of what truly happened (Rapee, 1997), While such limitations currents researchers have online of the tot past model to gain and in limitation currents. initial understanding of the parent-shild relationship. In one retrospective study, Parker (1979) evaluated a clinical group of adults with social phobia and agoraphobia, as well as a non-clinical control group, for differences in preceived parental overprotection. A strong association was found between reported parental overprotection and the social phobia group, such that compared to controls, participants with social phobia perceived their parents as highly overprotetive.

Parental self-reports of child-rearing behaviour and observations of parents-thild interactions are less common methods of evaluating the relationship between parental overpotection and child maxiety. Jutter: f, so and Tarrell (2005) investigated parentchild interactions with anxious children compared to parent-child interactions with their non-symptomatic shiftings. Parents-thild interactions were also observed for families with non-clinical children. Observations took place during arxiv:provoking situations, and variables such as convery surently, and reaven of cooping behaviour, in contrast, parents' interactions, where for anxious children displayed more control, as well as less paternal swarth, and reaven also children displayed more control, as well as less control than the axious children.

Similar studies have also examined populations in various cultures to compare the effects of parental overprotection on the development of child anxiety. Pomeratar and Wang (2009) compared the effects of overprotective parental behaviours on children's psychological functioning in China and the United States. The results suggested that in entitia contexts, such as academic achievement, the effects of parental control may be more severe in the West due to different culture-specific perspectives surrounding the acceptance of parental control in academia. However, in both cultures parental control had negative effects on children's psychological functioning.

Taken together, the above findings seem to suggest that there can be widespread negative outcomes for children of controlling and overprotective parents. Moreover, substantia research points to overprotection as a specific risk factor, and predictor, for the development of child anxiety continue to be decumented, researchers are now attempting to identify causal mechanisms that thmy act within this relationship.

#### Role for Locus of control

Control-related cognitions continue to emerge an possible links between purental overpretection and child anxiety. The importance of control-related cognitions relates to the fact that when an individual encounters autificant ansured in current/liable events early in life they can develop a reduction in their levels of perceived control (Chorpita & Barlow, 1998). This diminished energe energy of the transmission of the second second

The sense of preceived control over one's own events was defined by Rotter (1966) as locus of control, which is thereized to range on a continuum from internal to external. Locus of control is characterized as the extent to which each person precives individual control over events in their personal environment. A person with an internal locus of control may believe that personal environment. attributed to their own actions, such that the individual expects the outcome of a situation to be contingent on his/her own behavious (Spokas & Heimberg, 2009). Alternatively, a person with an external locus of control may expect that personal events in his/her life are controlled by another person, an external cause, or are completely unpredictable.

The net of reteritivity parenting, specifically parental overprotection, has been found to be associated with a reduced sense of control in children. Overprotective parenting behaviours can limit opportunities in which a child would remainly develop independence and new skills (Vassy & Dadak, 2001), Instead of acquiring autonomy and proper coping mechanisms, children become unable to establish a sense of control over their environment, which fosters external loss of outtrob beliefs. Furthermore, lack of perceived control has been associated with anxiety and the development of anxions symptomiology (Vasey & Dadak, 2001).

Spokes and Heinberg (2009) sampled a non-clinical group of college nucleons to investigate the relationship between trait anxiety and recollections of their parents' retaing behaviours. This is the other than the second anxiety. The relationship between perceived parental overprotection and social anxiety was partially explained by an external locus of control. This finding illustrates the potential role for external locus of control with the relationship between analytical averprotection and do any and the second second anxiety. The relationship between perceived parental overprotection and social anxiety was partially explained by an external locus of control. This finding illustrates the potential role for external locus of control within the relationship between parental averprotection and data arxiety.

Li and Chung (2009) administered the State Anxiety Scale for Children and the Chinese version of the Nowicki-Strickland Locus of Control (NSLOC) questionnaire to school children who were between the ages of 7 and 12. Results indicated that an external locus of control was positively correlated with ratings of state anxiety in the school-aged childran. Additionally, scores indicating an external locus of control were significant predictors of state anxiety during the stressfil situation, suggesting a role for controlrelated cognitions in state anxiety as well as trait anxiety.

Although several studies concerning the relations among parental behaviours, child anxiety, and locas of control have taken place, Choopita and Barlow (1998) were among the first researchers to investigate these constructs concarrently. In a substatutive review attick, they discussed findings from a number of diverse reacted, disciplings focusing primarily on the notion that early exposure to diminished control can lead to certain cognitive styles which are characterized by a greater likelihood of believing that events are not within one's own control. As mentioned previously, this kind of thought processing can finst are external locas of control which is considered to be a possible psychological risk factor for the development of anxiety.

Charpita and Barkow (1983) showized that the relationship between parental risk factors and child anxiety may be mediated by the control-related cognition loca of control. As explained by Baron and Kensy (1986), a mediator is generally a variable that accounts for a reliation by between the predictor variable and the currents on variables Mediator variables specify why certain outcome effects exist and explain how the relationship between two variables on decumed have loca of control as the Barlow's throwy as an example, a mediation model would have loca of control as the mediator variable because it would specify why child anxiety is a possible outcome effect of parental overpretories. In this eace, near of control would be the variable the decume effect accounts for the relationship between parental overprotection and the development of child anxiety.

In their 1986 article, fittern and Kenry also discuss moderator variables and attempt to distinguish them from mediator variables. Whereas mediator variables explain the relationship between the providers variable and the orthom variables, moderator variables affect the strength, direction, or both, of the relationship between the predictor variables affect the strength, direction, or both, of the relationship between the predictor variables affect the other strength, direction, or both, of the relationship between the predictor variables affect the strength, direction, or both, of the relationship between the predictor variables affect the other strength, direction, or both, of the relationship between the predictor variables affect the other strength, direction, or both, of the relationship between the predictor variables affect the other strength, direction, or both, of the relationship between the predictor variables affect the strength, direction, or both, of the relationship between the predictor variables affect the strength, direction, or both, of the relationship between the predictor variables affect the strength, direction, or both, of the relationship between the predictor variables affect the strength, direction, or both, of the relationship between the predictor variables affect the strength, direction, or both, of the relationship between the predictor variables affect the strength, direction, or both, of the relationship between the predictor variables affect the strength, direction, dire

Chopita and Barkow (1989) posited that in contrast to the mediation model for locas of control in child populations, perhaps a moderation model for locas of control would better represent adolescent and adult populations. The authors speculated that control related cognitions, such as locas of control, would have already been established by the time an individual reaches adolescence. Consequently, an external locas of control would function as a moderant by strengthening the reliationship between high parential control and adolescent anxiety. Chopyita and colleagues (1998) hypothesized that across child and adolescent anxiety. Chopyita and colleagues (1998) hypothesized that across child and adolescent anxiety. Chopyita and colleagues (control of the mediator to a moderator as a realled continued experience with preciviced control or time. Therefore, in adolescents, a moderation model would hold locas of control as the moderator with the outcome being affected by an internal or external locas of control. Specifically, whether the adolescents' locas of control was internal or external locas project's when anticyte would be parability control would present or expressions. To test their theory of a mediation model in children, Chorpita, Brown, and Barlow (1994) investigated a sample of children ranging in age from 6-15 years of the sample was comprised of children show vertered to a children and parents completed multiple questionnaires including the Nowicki-Strickland Locus of Control Scale (NSLC), the Revised Children's Manifest Anxing's Scale (IRCMAS), and Colleagues found appear for the mediation into of locus of control in the relationship between control in the family and child negative affectivity (a component of anxiety and depression). Specifically, the authors concluded that a mediation model was supported during childrood, suggesting that high family control forstered an external locus ortics, theory remaining in the development of anxies any temporatory.

Minitis Menters, Schutzer, and Hoge (2004) examined the effects of preceived control on the relationship between parental rearing behaviours and symptoms of anxiety and depression in a sample of noneclinical youth agod 11-14 years of La The "My Memories of Upbringing" (EMBU-C) questionnaire for children was used to measure perception of parental rearing behaviours. Precived control was measured using the Perceived Control Scale (PCS). Anxiety and depression symptoms were assessed with the Revised Children's Anxiety and Depression Scale (RCADS). Minist and collargue from that high levels of negative parental rusting behaviours were correlated with higher levels of anxiety, which were also correlated with hower levels of precived control. In contrast to the findings research by Contrast at (1) 1998, this study did not find suscend for a line function. mediation model for locus of control. While Chorpita and celleagues found support for locus of control as an explanatory variable for the relationship between family control and hold anxiety, which and celleagues found that a mediation on two and support for perceived control within this relationship in their pre-adolescent population. Instead, they found support for a moderation effect of perceived control within the relationship between answares that a strange the strange location of the pre-adolescent population. Instead, they found support for a moderation effect of perceived control within the relationship between answares that a strange between the location by adapted by each strange that high perceived control and low anxious parental rearing behaviours location for however anxiety levels in youth. The findings offer support for locus of control as a moderator in pre-adolescent populations, such that locus of control way change the degree or magnitude of the relationship bytween anxiety percent larger and net hold auxiety.

Muties and colleagues agreed with the discussion in Champite et al. (1999) about the possible transons for finding a moderation versus mediation model. While both studies assend similar counters, the methods and analyse of the studies were quite different. Ore of the possible explanations for the studies' different findings is the ages of the participants. Chorpita et al. (1999) used shilders ranging in age from 6-15 years old. Voange ethalers are thought to still be in the process of cognitive formation, which could have permoted the manifestation of the melaitain model. Specifically, overprotection for young childers may lead to changes in their backs of control, thereby affecting their levels of arxiety: In contrast, Muris et al. (2004) used an older, more limited age range, 11-14 year old preadodscents. They arguested that in older climiter and calobecents; control-leaded congrittors may be more matter that in whise the limiter. and therefore perceived control may strengthen the relationship between parenting and adolescent anxiety. A further difference between the studies was that while the constructs in the two studies were similar, Chorpita et al. (1999) measured the child's locus of control with the Nowicki-Strickland Locus (Contento Scale (NSLOC; Nowicki & Strickland, 1973) while Maris et al. (2004) measured control with the Perceived Control Scale for Children (PCS-C). Although both nucleis examined the child's stores of control over their lives, differences may exist between a locus of control questionnaire and hat the cognitive constructs being measured are not exactly the same. The age at which engines, may as locus of control, function as possible precursors to anxiety in children and adolescents has not been well established. Unfortunative, because many of the nucles produce discreptant findings, conclusive evidence mill, remains to be shown for the role of control-related cognition and the ages at which they function.

#### The Present Study

The primary purpose of this study was to examine and test a model of purential overpretorion and child anxiety. Specifically, the present study attempts to gain further understanding of puret-child relationships with respect to the role that the child's locus of control plays in the relationship between overpretection and child anxiety across multiple ages. Indeed, there is previous research that has examined purental rearring behavioure, child locus of control, and child anxiety in various child, adolescent, and ahult populations (Chorpita et al., 1998; Maris et al., 2004; Spokas & Heinberg, 2009). However, on such to due has examined the relationship between purent. overprotection, locus of control, and anxiety as it relates to the transition between mediation and moderation models over a wide age range during childhood. Given this initial purpose, the goal of the proposed research is to offer further clarification for the role that locus of control plays in purental overprotection and child anxiety, and to give insight into the ages at which locus of control functions as a mediator (Chorpita et al., 1998), purental overprotection might be a precursor to the development of childhood anxiety, hwe here a texternal locus of control might explain more of the variance in child margin relative neutron of competition (Marsi et al., 2004).

This study was also designed to address several limitations that exist in previous empirical studies of the relationship between parental overprotection and child arxively (Rapee, 1997). One methodological limitation of this research areas is the lack of specific models to explain the parent-shill relationship. The abnese of a dear theoretical rationale leads researchers to vary their hypotheses, methods, and variables making it difficult to draw conclusions. Actuator potential limitation is the frequent use of retrospective reports of child rearring behaviours because problems with validity can arise, such as biases in recollection and the temporal range for which each researcher defines "childhood". Rapee (1997) suggests that alhough child reports of parental behaviours may be less consistent than adult reports, direct research on young children, either through observation or child report, caudit minimize retrospective problems. However, most studies use retrospective adult propris, and those that our once that preport merely examine the feet of area differences on the calcinobies. The present study will address these methodological limitations by (i) testing a previously examined model with a clear rationale and which builds on established findings; and (ii) utilizing shild self-report measures, instead of retrospective parental reports, and testing well-defined age groups.

This research study will attempt to address two specific goals. The first goal will be to tot shill locus of control as i) a modiator between parental overprotection and child anxiety, and ii) a moderator between parental overprotection and adolescent archity. The second goal will be to test whether the role of locus of control changes over child and adolescent ages from a modiation to moderation variable. Both modiation and moderation models will be tested in all age groups to determine which model is a better fit.

It is hypothesized that for all children there will be a significant relationship between presental overprotection and child locus of control, such that high parental overprotection will be associated with an external locus of control in the child. Secondly, it is hypothesized that for all children as significant relationship with the child. Secondly, it is hypothesized that for all children as significant relationship with the child. Secondly, it is hypothesized that for all children as significant relationships, which that an external locus of control will be associated with mere anxious symptomatology. Thirdly, it is hypothesized that a mellation model would be upported for young children, and a moderation model for older children.

#### Methods

#### Participants

Participants were comprised of a community sample of children ranging in age from 7 to 19 years. Participants were recruited from a selection of schools in the Eastern School Ditrict in NewFoundhand. The schools agreed to participate in the study 05 elementary. 2 Janoto high, and 3 high schools). Consent rates at the schools ranged from 1% to 24%. The participants comprised three groups. For Group 1, participants were recruited from grades three and four. For Group 2, participants were recruided from grades seven and eight. For Group 3, participants were recruited from grades seven and eight. For Group 3, participants were recruited from grades eleven and twelve.

Group 1 consisted of 00 third and fourth grade participants, comprised of 25 girls and 24 hoys. The participants in Group 1 ranged in age from 7 years, 11 months to 10 years, 7 months (d = 59 years; B = 7 months). Group 2 constants (d = 60 were than and eighth grade participants, comprised of 51 girls and 18 hoys. The participants in Group 2 ranged in age from 11 years, 11 months to 14 years, 1 months (d = 1.03 years; B = 7months). Group 3 consisted of 20 elseventh and twelfth grade participants, comprised of 17 girls and 3 boys. The participants is comprised of 10 girls and 3 boys. The sumple was 94% (a = 140) White, 3.4% (a = 50 mixed, 0.7% (n = 1) East Asian, 0.7% (n = 1) Native, and 0.7% (a = 1) Jourde, participants of the indicate histor entire groups.

#### Measures

Demographic information questionnaire. A questionnaire requesting demographic information (see Appendix A) was administered to all of the participants. Information requested included the participants' age, gender, grade, number of brothers and sisters: ethnicire, living arrangements: and the moder's example.

"My memories of upbringing" – dild version (EMBUE-C; Castre, Term, Van der Ender, & Arrindell, 1993; Grumer, Marris, & Merckelluch, 1999). The EMBUE-C was used to measure endel hererequistor of centre parential control and parential rearing behaviour. The EMBUE-C (see Appendix B) is a 39-item child report questionnaire that assesses from parental factors: Emotional Warmith, Rejaction, Overprotection, and Anxious Reauting. The factors represent four separate subscales of the EMBUE-C. All or of the items for the four subscales are related using a 4-point Liker scale (1 = No. nover; 2 Yer, but seldom; 3 = Yer, offers; 4 = Yer, more of the timer). The total scores for the EMBUE-C range from 39 to 156. For the parsess of the present study, only the CONTROP-parend Deventorsciention subscale (TMUE-C CON was used for the malrosc).

The EMBU-C has a Flexib-Kinoid reading level of 4.8 (Flexib, 1948), and has been evaluated in children ranging in age from 7 to 18 years. As the reading level of the EMBU-C may be above the reading level of some of the participants, this instrument was read load to participants in grades 3 and 4. The approximate time to complete the EMBU-C is 10 minutes. The EMBU-C has moderate to high internal consistency depending on the subscale, and has been reported as ranging from .0 - .94 (Bown & Whiteside, 2008; Maris et al., 2004; Spokas & Heimberg, 2009). The reliability for the subscales has been found to range from .7 - .96 for the miscinem Wanth subscale. from .7 - .2.3 for the Rejection subscale, from .4 - .49 for the Pariental Overprotection subscale, and from .74 - .31 for the Anxious Rearing subscale. The EMBU-C has been found to be positively correlated with the Parental Care and Overpretion subscales of the Parental Bonding Instrument (Spekas & Heimberg, 2009). The standardized scores of the Care solubacie from the PBI were found to be positively correlated with standardized scores of the Emotional Warmth subscale from the EMBU-C (Spearman's  $\mu$ , nonparametric correlation coefficient  $\mu = 7.3, \mu = .01$  for moltency  $\mu = .01$ ,  $\mu < .01$  for futhers). The Overprotection subscale from the PBI was positively correlated with the Overprotection subscale from the EMBU-C ( $\mu = .75, \mu < .01$  for moltency  $\mu = .31, \mu < .01$ for futhers).

"Whenemotics of aphringing" – adoleccent versions (EMBU-At, Cattre, Tore, Van der Ende, & Arrindell, 1993; Grauer, Marris, & Merckichach, 1999), To measure adoleccent perceptions of paut parental control and parental rearing behaviour, Group 3 participants also completed the EMBU-C questionnaire as cound inne (EMBU-A), reflecting on when they were 9 years old. The EMBU – Adoleccent version (see Appendix C) was given at the end of the packet of questionnaires. The EMBU-A surves as a comparison against the EMBU-C to ensure that adoleccent participants were assessed on consistent averative trainers behaviours rate that assessed to entraine bahaviours.

Revised child anxiety and depression scale (RCADS; Chorpitz, Yim, Moffitt, Unemoto, & Francis, 2000). The RCADS (see Appendix D) is a 47-item child report questionnaire used to measure child anxiety. It is comprised of six subscales that correspond to the DSM-IV dimensions of depressive disorder and maxiety disorders. (American Psychiatric Association, 2000). The subscalar are Major Depressive Disorder (MDD), Separation Anxiety Disorder (SAD), Panic Disorder (PD), Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD), Separation Brokis GP, and Othensive Computine Disorder (GAD). Do items for the RCADS are answered using a 4-point Likert scale (0 = never; 1 =sometimes; <math>2 = nfore; <math>3 = ahouys). The total scores for the RCADS range from 0-141. The RCADS also yields a composite arxiety score obtained by summing across the five anxiety subscale.

The RCADS has a Flesch-Kincaid reading level of 3.5 (Flesch, 1948), and has been evaluated in children ranging from 8 to 18 years. As the reading level of the RCADS may be above the reading level of some of the participants, this instrument was read aloud to participants in grades 3 and 4. The approximate time to complete the RCADS is 7 minutes. The scale has been found to have high internal consistency. The reliabilities for the subscales have been found to range in reports from .65 - .85 (Chornita et al. 2000: Muris et al., 2004). The alpha coefficient for the MDD subscale has been found to be .76. The alpha coefficient for the anxiety subscales has been found to be .78 for the SAD subscale, .85 for the PD subscale, .80 for the GAD subscale, .81 for the SP subscale, and .71 for the OCD subscale. Muris et al. (2004) reported that Cronbach's alpha was 64 for the devression subscale, and was 85 for the anxiety subscales overall. in a sample of non-clinical mendalescents. Chamits et al. (2000) compared the RCADS to the Children's Depression Inventory (CDI) and the Revised Children's Manifest Anxiety Scale (RCMAS) in a sample of non-clinical Hawaiian children and adolescents. The MDD subscale positively correlated with the CDL while the anxiety subscales from

the RCADS correlated positively with the RCMAS. For the present study, the composite anxiety score (RCADS\_ANX) was used as a measure of anxious symptoms.

Novideki-Strickland lease of control scale for children (NSLOC-C; Novideki & Strickland, 1973); The NSLOC-C (see Appendix E) is a 40-item questionnaire used to measure generalized loss of control for children, and was chosen to facilitate comparison between the previously discussed study (Chorpla et al., 1998) and the present investigation. The items are answered in a yea/co format and the responses are oded zero erase. The total scores for the NSLOC-Cing from 0 to 40 with higher scores indicating arguer external loss of control.

The NSLOC-C has a T-Bench-Kineaid reading level of 6.2 (Floresh, 1948), and has heen evaluated in children 8 years and older (Novicki & Strickland, 1977). McClure, Chindry, & Larcen, 1978). As the reading level of the NSLOC-C may be advove the reading level of some of the participants in his intrameret war call aloost to participants in grades 3 and 4. The approximate time to complete the NSLOC-C is 7 minutes. Novicki & Strickland (1977) assessed the internal consistency of their measure using the optic-half method. The reliability for various arg groups was found to be moderate but consistent across the ages. For grades 3, 4, and 5, the optic-half reliability was found to be 6.7, and 8, the optic-half reliability was found to be 6.8. For grades 9, 10, and 11, the optic-half reliability was found to be 7.4. For grades 12, the optic-half reliability was found to be 3.1. Tent-retext reliability at six weck intervals was found to and on ange from, 6.06 for grades 1.1. Tent-retext reliability at six.

Procedure

Data was collected from 10 public schools in the Eastern School District, a proposal seeking ethical approval was first submitted to Memorital's Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research (ICEHR), Subsequent to receiving ethical approval from ICEHR (see Appendix F), the Eastern School District was also approached for ethical approval. Following ethical approval from the Eastern School District (see Appendix G), twenty schools within the district with children ranging in gase from 7 to 18 years were selected to be contacted regarding the study. The principal's were contacted via an information letter (see Appendix 1) which explained the purpose of the present study. The letter also requested permission, and were subsequently contacted with a phone call from the researcher to the principal to arrange dates and times for an initial school with:

During the initial visit to a school, the research assistant(a) gave a brief introductory speech to the participating classes that explained the general purpose of the study (see Appendix I). The research assistants explained that the answers provided on the questionnaires would be anonymous and confloatinil. It was also explained that the study was voluntary, and that participants could withdraw from the study at any time. The research assistants explained that consent forms had to be signed by the parents in order for the students to be involved in the study. All students were given introduction letters about the study, as well as the consent forms he is biged observed means to gaudalin (see Appendix I). The students were aiked to return the signed observed means the study at the study as well as the consent forms to be signed by a parent or gaudalin (see Appendix I). The students were aiked to return the signed observed following day, regardless of whether the parents gave consent to participate in the study. An incentive was used later in data collection to increase the low consent rates at the schools. All participants who returned their consent forms signed by their parent or guandian were entered into a draw to win a gift certificate (\$10) for a movie theatre. The average consent rate was 12% for the nine schools without the incentive and 21% for the one school that had the incentive.

The research assistants returned to the school on the following day to proceed with data collection. Only these students who were given parental consent to participate were acade to gather it a quiet room (for example, the school library) to complete the queriformaires. The participants were seated at tables or desks, and the research assistant once again explained the study (see Appendix K). It was emphasized to the participants that they cold ask queriform at my time throughout the process. Participants were also samed that they could do gat any point in the process. The privideal.

The research assistant read the child's assent from adout to all participants and explained that the assent form was where the participants could indicate whether they wanted to take part in the study. The participants were added to write their name and the date on the assent form if they wished to participant. The assent forms were collected and only those participants who signed the assent forms were administered the questionnaires. One child decided not to participate in the study and did not sign the assent form; therefore, the assent reas way 9%.

The research assistants administered packets of questionnaires. The packets included the EMBU-C, EMBU-A, NSLOC, and RCADS, as well as the demographic

questionnaire. The demographic questionnaire was attached to the front of all the questionnaire packets. The questionnaires were counterbalanced according to a Larin squares design. All participants were allowed to proceed through the questionnaire packets on their own. However, for grandes 3 and 4, research assistents read the statement on each questionnaire out load to the group as a whole. For any participants requiring individual attention, a research assistant was available to administer the questionnaires one on one. The total time to complete the questionnaire packets ranged from 15 to 60 minutes. Following the completion of all questionnaires, the participants were asked if the had any suestions or encerents.

#### Results

### **Descriptive Statistics**

A total of 176 participants completed the present study. Following an initial examination of the data, 27 participants were excluded. Exclusion criteria included participants repeating the exact same response across questions or inventories, having substantial amounts of missing data (e.g., full inventories not completed in the questionnaire packet), or being outside of the specified age brackets for the study.

Preliminary analyses were used to investigate the internetationships between three of the demographic variables (agg group, sex, and family living composition) and purrent overprotection (IRMU-C\_CO), and lable loss of owned (NSLC-C), and the child anxiety composite score (RCADS\_ANX). Table 1 illustrates the meanes, standard deviations, indices of degree of normaley, and internal consistencies for measures of purrental overprotection, child LOC, and child anxiety in three age groups (ages 8 - 10, 12 - 14, and 16 - 13) and the full sample.

Tests of internal consistency were performed for hops and gifts in each group separately, as well as across the full sample for the parental overprotection scale, child LOC scale, and anxiety scale (see Table 1). In guerral, internal consistencies are considered acceptable whon greater than a = 70, but internal consistencies of a = 60may still be considered acceptable for scales with less than 20 items (Nunnally, 1967). In the full sample, the EMU-C<sub>2</sub> CO, which is comprised of 10 items, had modernet internal consistencies in both sexes (a = 81 + 87). However, within individual age groups, the internal consistencies differed tweetsen gifts and box. Across age propse.

Table 1.

Means, standard deviations, range, tests of normalcy, and internal consistencies (a) for the EMBU-C\_C/O, the NSLOC-C, and the RCADS\_ANX across three age groups and in the full sample (N = 149)

Measure	M (SD)	Range	Skew	Kurtosis	$\alpha$ - Girls	a - Boys
EMBU-C_C/O						
Group 1	25.40 (4.57)	15 - 40	69	-1.42	.79	.92
Group 2	22.72 (4.27)	13 - 31	.39	.85	.82	.41
Group 3	22.15 (4.74)	16-35	1.99*	1.40	.78	.11
Full Sample	23.72 (4.64)	13 - 40	1.04	.58	.81	.87
NSLOC-C						
Group 1	11.63 (3.71)	2 - 23	.39	1.00	.69	.62
Group 2	10.39 (4.09)	2 - 21	1.91*	23	.70	.65
Group 3	9.65 (3.46)	4 - 18	1.00	21	.63	.23
Full Sample	10.79 (3.90)	2 - 23	1.79	11	.68	.64
RCADS_ANX						
Group 1	38.15 (20.57)	2 - 87	2.38*	330	.95	.96
Group 2	27.22 (15.61)	1 - 66	3.11**	.58	.94	.94
Group 3	38.15 (18.84)	15 - 81	1.37	.21	.93	.96
Full Sample	33.09 (18.87)	1 - 87	4.39**	.54	.95	.96

Nate. EMBU-C\_CO = "My memories of Upbringing" Child version, Control Overprotection subscale; Control/Overprotection subscale; NELOC-C = Nonokik-Strickland Locus of Control Scale for children; RCADS\_ANX = Revised Child Ansisty and Depression Scale, Antiety composite score "a < ab." \*a < 0.1</p>
girts had moderate reliability for the EMBU-C\_CO (a = .78 - .82). Conversely, boys in Group 1 showed a high reliability for the EMBU-C\_CO (a = .82), and boys in Groups 2 and 3 had very low internal consistencies (a = .41 and a = .11, respectively), which were much lower than exceeded (Castro et al. 1993).

The internal consistencies for the NSLOCC, which was comprised of 99 lems, were low hat acceptable for both serves in the full sample (a = .64 - .63). Similar exclusions for the NSLOCC were found in the sequence aggrounds for boys and grids (ranging from a = .62 - .70), eacept for boys in Group 3 (a = .23). Both the reliabilities for the SMBU-C O and NSLOCC (a = .11 and a = .23), respectively) were extremely low for boys in Group 3. Furthermore, the sample size for this groups was very low (a = .3). Submerice, it was used not be possible to dura was carrent conductors about this group. As such, the boys in the Group 3 sample were removed from further analyses. Finally, for the RCADB, ANN, which is comprised of 37 items, internal consistencies were high in both scess for the full sample, and across all agg groups (ranging from a = .33 - .60). The final sample access costs of 4.46 participants who were used in the main malynes.

As its shown in Table 1, several of the variables were significantly skewed. The NSLOC-C was significantly skewed in Group 2 and the EMBU-C\_C Ow as significantly skewed in Group 3. Therefore, a square root transformation was used for the NSLOC-C and the EMBU-C\_C O in Group 2 and 3, respectively. Additionally, the RCADS\_ANX was significantly skewed for the full sample, therefore, a square root function was socialed to the RCADE ANX variable for the full sample.

Following the transformations, one-way analyses of variance (ANOVAs) were used to test the differences between are groups on the parental overprotection, locus of control, and child anxiety. Age groups differed with regards to overprotection (F (2, 143) = 6.86, p < .01), and child anxiety (F (2, 143) = 6.75, p < .01). Therefore, subsequent follow-up contrasts were used to investigate the age differences. Age group comparisons were conducted using Bonferroni adjusted alpha levels of .017 for each test (.05/3 = .017). For parental overprotection, follow up contrasts revealed a significant difference between Group 1 and Group 3 (r (143) = 2.57, p = .011), indicating that the voungest age group had significantly higher levels of parental overprotection than the oldest age group. Additionally, follow up contrasts revealed a significant difference between Group 1 and Group 2 (t(143) = 3.39, n = .001), indicating that the youngest are group also had significantly higher levels of parental overprotection than the middle age group. However, no significant differences were found between Group 2 and Group 3, suggesting that levels of overprotection did not differ in the two older age groups. In addition, a paired samples t-test revealed that Group 3 reported significantly higher scores for overprotection using the EMBU-A compared to the EMBU-C (t (16) = -4.44, p < .01), suggesting that the scores on the EMBU-C in the adolescent sample were representative of their current perception of overprotection.

For child anxiety (RCADS\_ANX), follow up contrasts revealed no significant differences between Group 1 and Group 3, suggesting that the youngest and oldest groups did not differ on levels of anxiety. However, follow up contrasts between Groups 1 and 2 revealed significant differences (r(143) - 337, p = 00), and follow up contrasts between Groups 2 and 3 revealed differences that approached significance (t(143) = 2.41, p = .017). These findings suggest that the youngest and oldest age groups both had higher levels of anxiety than the middle age group.

To further examine the comparable levels of matricely in the youngest and older groups, one-way and/sets of variance (ANOVAs) were used to test the differences between age groups on the individual ubscales of the RCADS Globwing square root transformations. Again, tests were conducted using Bonferrooi adjusted alpha levels of .017 for eache. Namely, significant between-group differences were observed on the suparation anxiety disorder (SAD) subscale (P(2, 14) = 23A, P, -0.01), and the suparation anxiety disorder (SAD) subscale (P(2, 14) = 23A, P, -0.01), and the groups did not significantly differ on the social abolist apply ubscale ( $P(2, 143) = 3A_2, p - .010$ ), for the generalized anxiety disorder (PD) subscale ( $P(2, 143) = 3A_3, p - .010$ ), for the generalized anxiety disorder (PD) subscale ( $P(2, 143) = 3A_3, p - .010$ ), for the generalized anxiety disorder (PD) subscale ( $P(2, 143) = 3A_3, p - .010$ ), for the generalized anxiety disorder (PD) subscale ( $P(2, 143) = 3A_3, p - .010$ ), for the generalized anxiety disorder (PD) subscale ( $P(2, 142) = 2A_3, p - .010$ ), for the generalized

Follow-up contrasts were used on the individual unbecader of the RCADS that had significant age differences. Tests were conducted using Bonferenii adjusted alpha levels of 0.07 for each test. For the separation anxiety disorder (SAD) subsciele, follow up contrasts between Groups 1 and 2 revealed significant differences ( $\ell$  (14) – 6.00,  $\rho <$ .001), suggesting that SAD scores were higher in the younger group than the middle group. Follow up contrasts between Groups 1 and 3 revealed no significant differences ( $\ell$ (143) – 2.16,  $\rho = .029$ ) and follow up contrasts between Groups 2 and 3 also revealed no significant differences ( $\ell$  (147) – 2.2,  $\rho = .020$ ), for the doesiest-complicity disorder (OCD) subscale, follow up contrasts between Groups 1 and 2 revealed significant differences (t(143) = 5.45, p < .001), and follow up contrasts between Groups 1 and 3 revealed significant differences (t(143) = 3.58, p < .001). Conversely, follow up contrasts between Groups 2 and 3 revealed no significant differences (t(143) = .09, p = .93), which suggests that OCD scores were higher in the youngest group than either of the two other groups.

Independent-samples t-tests were used to test differences between girls and boys on mean scores for the EMBU-C Control Overprotection subscale (EMBU-C\_C:O), the NSLOC-C, and the RCADS anxiety composite (RCADS\_ANX) score (see Table 2) in three age groups and the full sample. No significant differences were found between girls and boys on mean scores of measures of parental differences were found at LOC, and anxiety composite scores. Subsequent planned analyses were collapsed atrons see.

Table 2.

Means and standard deviations (M(SD)) for the EMBU-C Control/Overprotection subscale, the NSLOC-C, and the RCADS anxiety composite for girls and boys across three age groups and the full sample (N = 146)

Group	Group 1		Group 2		Group 3		_Full Sample_	
	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys	Girls	Boys
EMBU- C_C/O	25.56 (3.49)	25.17 (5.90)	22.57 (4.18)	23.17 (4.60)	22.24 (4.96)	n/a	23.55 (4.31)	24.31 (5.42)
NSLOC-C	11.44 (3.79)	11.92 (3.65)	10.39 (3.99)	10.39 (4.49)	10.00 (3.62)	n/a	10.69 (3.87)	11.26 (4.05)
RCADS_ANX	40.67 (20.03)	34.38 (21.21)	28.80 (15.93)	22.72 (14.12)	38.71 (19.65)	n/a	34.53 (18.75)	29.38 (19.21)

Note. EMBU-C\_C/D = "My memories of Upbringing" Child version, Control/Dverprotection subscale; Control/Dverprotection subscale; NSLOC-C = Noseichi-Strickland Locus of Control Scale for children; RCADS\_ANX = Revised Child Arctiety and Depression Scale, Arctiety composite score

One-way analyses of variance (ANDVAs) were used to test the differences between family living composition groups (i.e. child spends most of their time with their moles, fuilter, neither, neither, being hardware to be separately, or both parents who live together) on measures of parential overprotection, child LOC, and child anxiety. No significant differences were found between family living composition groups (see Table 3). All subsequent analyses and comparisons were collapsed across family composition. Table 3.

ANOVA – Between groups comparison of Family Living Composition on the EMBU-C\_C/O, the NSLOC-C, and the RCADS\_ANX (N = 146)

	EMBU-C_C/O	NSLOC-C	RCADS_ANX
Group	M (SD)	M(SD)	M (SD)
Mostly with mother	25.50 (4.31)	11.72 (3.29)	36.61 (15.00)
Mostly with father	17.00 (n/a)	21.00 (n/a)	27.00 (n/a)
Both parents together	23.70 (4.59)	10.50 (3.99)	32.04 (18.69)
Both parents separately	23.15 (4.86)	11.85 (3.24)	37.62 (26.78)
Neither	19.50 (7.78)	11.50 (0.71)	31.00 (16.97)
TOTAL	23.77 (4.65)	10.86 (3.91)	33.05 (18.97)
F-ratio (p-value)	1.67 (.16)	2.45 (.05)	.40 (.81)

Note: EMBU-C\_C/D = "My memories of Upbringing" Child version, Control/Overprotection subscale; Control/Overprotection subscale; NSLOC-C = Nonicki-Strickland Locus of Control Scale for children; RCADS\_AXX = Revised Child Anxier and Depression Scale. Amiters composite score

## Relationships between Parental Overprotection, Child LOC, and Child Anxiety

The main hypotheses of the present investigation were that 10 parental overprotection would be positively related to child LOC; ii) child LOC would be positively related to child materies, and that iii) a machinom node to would be supported for early childhood development, and a moderation model for adolescent development. Given that mediation and moderation analyses were planned to test the study hypotheses, correlation analyses (see Table 4) and regression analyses were finit used to depict the relationships between parental overprotection, child LOC, and defla maxing.

#### Table 4.

Correlation analyses of the EMBU-C\_C/O, the NSLOC-C, and the RCADS\_ANX across three age groups and the full sample (N = 146)

	Group 1 (n = 60)		Group 2 (n = 69)		Group 3 (n = 17)		Full sample	
	EMBU C_C/O	NSLOC- C	EMBU C_C/O	NSLOC- C	EMBU C_C/O	NSLOC- C	EMBU C_C/O	NSLOC -C
NSLOC -C	.26*	-	.11	-	.46	-	.23**	-
RCADS ANX	.43**	.16	.16	.39**	.20	_22	.32**	.28**

Vice Pourson correlations; EMBU-C\_CO = "My memories of Upbringing" Child version, Control Overprotection subscale, NSLOC-C = Nonecki-Strickland Locus of Control Scale for children; RCMD\_MVC = Revised Child Anticity and Depression Scale, Ansisty composite score 'by < ab, 'bp < al'</p>

As predicted in the first hypothesis, the overpretection scale was positively correlated with the child LOC scale in the full sample (r = 23, p < .01), with overpredection accounting for 6% of the variance in child LOC. Within separate age groups, only Groups (I displayed a significant correlation between the overprotection scale

and the child LOC scale, and overprotection accounted for 7% of child LOC (r = .26, p < .05). Overprotection and child LOC were not significantly related in Groups 2 and 3.

As predicted in the second hypothesis, the child LOC scale was found to be positively correlated with the child anxiety scale in the full sample, with child LOC accounting for 8% of the variance in child anxiety (r = 28,  $\rho < 0.01$ ). A positive correlation was found in Group 2 between the child LOC scale and the child anxiety scale, and child LOC was found to account for 15% of the variance in child anxiety ( $\rho < 0.01$ ). Similicant correlations were not found in Groups 1 and 3.

Furthermore, although the overprotection scale was positively correlated with the child anxiety scale in the full sample and in Group 1, and accounted for 10% and 18% of the variance in child anxiety (p < 0.1), respectively, non-significant relationships were found between the overprotection scale and the child anxiety scale in Groups 2 and 3.

## Effects of Child LOC on the Relation between Overprotection and Child Anxiety

The purpose of the study was to text mediation and moderation models of parental overpretection and child anxisty. In particular, the study planned to investigate the role that child LOC plays in the relationship between overprotection and child anxisty over a wide childhood age range. Given that the third hypothesis involved tests of mediation and moderation models, seeral steps needed to be satisfied to proceed with the analyses.

To test for mediation (Baron & Kenny, 1989): (1) the independent variable must be significantly associated with the mediator (shift LOC regressed on overprotection); (2) the dependent variable must be significantly associated with the independent variable (diald anciety cregated on overprotection); (2) the mediator must significantly affect the

dependent variable when controlling for the independent variable (child anxiety regressed on child LOC and overprotection); and (4) the association between the independent variable and the dependent variable must be reduced when the mediator is controlled foldia anxiety regressed on overprotections while controlling for child LOC).

To test for moderation (Blann & Kenny, 1989): (1) the dependent variable must be regressed on the independent variable (duid auxiety regressed on overprotection); (2) the dependent variable must be regressed on the moderator (full durinity regressed on child LOC); and (3) the dependent variable must be regressed on the interaction between the independent variable and the moderator (rdhid auxiety regressed) on the interaction between overprotection and LOC). For a moderation model to be supported, the third pub, which includes the interaction, must be significant.

Contrary to predictions, many of the relationships between the main variables in the study were not observed within the individual age groups. Importantly, a significant relationship between existence of the study of the study of the study of the significant relationship between parental overprotection analyses. Moreover, a significant relationship between parental overprotection and child anxiety was not observed in Groups 2 and 3. Therefore, it was not possible to proceed with the mediation or modernion analyses for either of those are groups.

Alternatively, since the relationships between overprotection, child LOC, and child anxiety were present in the full sample, mediation and moderation could be tested when the age groups were collapsed. To control for age group membership as a variable in the analyses, are groups were down were coded and entered first into the analyses. In testing mediation in the full sample (see Table 5), the age group (dummy coded) variables were first entered, followed by EMBU-C C/O scores as a predictor of the child anxiety composite scores (RCADS ANX). It was predicted that overprotection would be a significant predictor of child anxiety. Age group accounted for a significant amount of variance in child anxiety [F (2, 143) = 6.75, p < .01, R<sup>2</sup> = .09], and consistent with hypotheses, overprotection accounted for a significant amount of additional variance in child anxiety [Fchanne (1, 142) = 12.07, p < .01, R<sup>2</sup>channe = .07]. Secondly, the EMBU-C C/O scores were entered as a predictor of the NSLOC-C scores. It was expected that overprotection would predict child LOC. Analyses revealed that overprotection accounted for a significant amount of additional variance (beyond the amount of variance accounted for by age group) in child LOC [F\_+----(1, 142) = 5.73, p < .05, R<sup>2</sup>\_+----= .04]. Finally, the EMBU-C C/O and the NSLOC-C scores were entered as predictors of the child anxiety composite scores (RCADS ANX). It was predicted that child LOC would have a significant effect on child anxiety. Analyses revealed that child LOC was a significant predictor of child anxiety. Specifically, when the EMBU-C C/O and the NSLOC-C were both entered as predictors, a significant amount of variance in child anxiety was accounted for by child LOC [F\_dom: (1, 141) = 7.08, p < .01, R<sup>2</sup>dom: = .04].

The fourth prediction for modiation was that the association between the independent and dependent variables would be reduced when controlling for the modiator. Consistent with predictions, the relationship between parental overprotection and child materies are neduced when controlling for child LOC, as illustrated by the reduction in beta weights ( $\beta = .29$  to  $\beta = .24$ ). However, the Sobel test (Baron & Kenny, 1986) confirmed that the mediation model was not simificant (z-value = 1.78, p = .08).

Table 5.

Multiple regression analyses predicting the RCADS\_ANX from the EMBU-C\_C/O and the NSLOC-C in the full sample (N = 146)

	RCADS_ANX					
Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	В	SE	β	1	
Step 1	.09					
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		09	.44	03	21	
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-1.04	.43	31	-2.41*	
Step 2	.08					
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		41	.43	12	96	
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-1.09	.42	33	-2.63*	
EMBU-C_C/O		.10	.03	.29	3.56**	
Step 3	.04					
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		51	.42	15	-1.21	
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-1.12	.41	34	-2.75**	
EMBU-C C/O		.09	.03	.24	3.04**	
NSLOC-C		.09	.03	.21	2.71**	
Total R <sup>2</sup>	.20					

Note: EMRUC C:  $O = ^{-1}$ thy ensembles of Upbringing<sup>2</sup>. Child version, Control Corporation solvade NSLOC C: = Nonicki Strickland Laron of Control Scale for children; RCMS\_LNX = Revised Child Anticy and Depresent Scale, durity composite scores; Age damong variables are colded to that Age 1 compares Group 1 to Group 2 and Age 2 compares Group 2 to Group 3  $^{-1}$  Ge  $^{-1}$  Ge  $^{-1}$ 

Child LOC was also tested as a moderating variable within the relationship between parental overprotection and child anxiety in the full sample (see Table 6). Similar to the mediation analysis, the age group variables (dummy coded) were first entered, followed by the EMBU-C\_CO scores as a predictor of the child anxiety composite scores (RCADS\_ANS), Again, it was hypothesized that parental overprotection world significantly predict characters. As shown in the mediation model, age group accounted for a significant amount of variance in child anxiety  $|F_{charge} = (0)$ , and parental overprotection accounted for a significant proportion of additional variance in child anxiety  $|F_{charge} = (1, 142) = 12.07, p < 0.01, R^{+}_{charge} = 0.01$ . Secondly, the SSLOCC scores were entered as a predictor of the child anxiety (Composite scores (RCADS\_ANX). It was predicted that child LOC would predict child anxiety. As expected, child LOC accounted for a significant amount of additional variance (beyond the amount of variance accounted for a significant amount of additional variance (beyond the amount of additional variance (beyond the amount of variance accounted for by age group) in child anxiety  $|F_{charge} (1, 142) = 10.37, p < 0.01, R^{+}_{charge} = 0.01, Finally, an interaction term of parental overprotection and child LOC was entered as a predictive of that anxiety. For the moderation model to be supported, the path including the interaction term (parental very prediction and that LOC) that nat account for the any significant propertion of the variance in the moder the frame of the interaction term (parental very protection and child LOC) and nat account for a significant propertion of the variance in the moder the frame of the interaction term (parental very protection and child LOC) and nat account for a significant propertion of the variance in the moder the significant propertion of the variance in the moder the significant propertion of the variance in the moder the significant propertion of the variance in the variance in the moder variance in the variance in the$ 

Therefore, although the planned analyses (mediation and moderation model)) could not be tested in separate age groups, the same analyses were tested using the full sample. The analyses revealed that when age groups were collapsed and age was controlled for statistically, there was no support for a statistically significant partial mediation model or moderation model across the full sample.

Table 6.

Multiple regression analyses predicting the RCADS\_ANX from the EMBU-C\_C/O, the NSLOC-C, and the interaction EMBU-C x NSLOC-C, in the full sample (N = 146)

Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	В	SE	β	1
Step 1	.09				
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		09	.44	03	21
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-1.04	.43	32	-2.41*
Step 2	.08				
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		41	.43	12	96
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-1.09	.42	33	-2.63*
EMBU-C_C/O		.10	.03	.29	3.56**
Step 3	.05				
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		48	.42	14	-1.14
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-1.08	.41	33	-2.63**
EMBU-C C/O		.09	.03	.24	2.90**
NSLOC-C		.09	.03	.21	2.72**
EMBU-C_C/O x NSLOC-C		.01	.01	.07	.94
Total R <sup>2</sup>	.21				

Naue, EMRU-C, Crid = "Ap resources of Upbridging" Child version, Control Overprotection subscule. NSLOC-C = Noricki Strickland Locus of Control Scalar for children; RCADS\_HXC = Reviewl Child Activity and Dynession Scala, Activity companies score, Age downy wardables are coded so that Age 1 compares Group 1 to Group 2 and Age 2 compares Group 2 to Group 3

\*p < .05, \*\*p < .01

In addition to testing mediation and moderation models in the full ample, further analyses were used to investigate whether gender differences existed within the relationships mange correlation, full loc, Can dehild anxiety. Correlation analyses were used first to determine if significant relationships existed between the main variables in girls and boys (see Table 7). Analyses revealed that for girls all variables were significantly correlated. For boys, although the RCADS\_ANX was correlated with both the EMBNLC ( $e \sim A_D \approx 0$ ) and the SIGC ( $e \sim A_D \approx 0$ ), this EMBUC and the NSLOC-C were not significantly correlated. As such, mediation and moderation analyses were only tested for girls.

Table 7.

Correlation analyses of the EMBU-C\_C/O, the NSLOC-C, and the RCADS\_ANX across gender (N = 146)

		Jirls	Boys			
	(11)	= 104)	(n = 42)			
Measure	EMBU-C	RCADS_ANX	EMBU-C	RCADS_ANX		
NSLOC-C	.31**	.21*	.09	.47**		
RCADS_ANX	.29**		.42**			

Note. Pearson correlations: EMBU.C. CO = "My memories of Upbringing "Child version, Control/Overprotection subscule," NRLOC.C = Namiché Britéland Locus of Control Scale for children; RCADS\_MOX = Revised Child Ansiety and Depression Scale, Ansiety companie score "p< = 05, "Ps < 01</p>

Mediation analyses revealed that in girls (see Table 8), the relationship hereene parential overprotection and child anxiety was reduced when controlling for child LOC, as illustrated by the reduction in but weight = 2 + 4 m = -20. However, the reduction was not significant, as confirmed by the Sobel test (*z*-value = 1.15, *p* = -25). The moderation analysis (see Table 9) was also non-significant for girls, as the addition of the interaction term (garernal overprotection and child LOC) did in on account for a significant responsible of the term (garernal overprotection and child LOC) did in one account for a significant responsible of the term (garernal overprotection and child LOC) (20 + 90 = p = -20, 20 + 20 = -20.

Table 8.

Multiple regression analyses predicting the RCADS\_ANX from the EMBU+C\_C/O and the

RCADS ANX  $\Delta R^2$ Step 1 .10 Age 1 (Dummy variable) .15 .44 .05 .33 Age 2 (Dummy variable) -.86 .42 -.28 -2.04\* Step 2 Age 1 (Dummy variable) -.14 .45 -.04 -.32 Age 2 (Dummy variable) -.89 .41 -.29 -2.16\* EMBU-C C/O .09 .04 .24 2.45\* Age 1 (Dummy variable) 45 - 05 -.10 Age 2 (Dummy variable) - 90 - 20 EMBU-C C/O 04 .20 1.99 NSLOC-C 05 04 1.38 Total R<sup>2</sup>

NSLOC-C in girls (N = 103)

Note: EMRUC C:  $O^{---}$  Type summers of Updringing<sup>2</sup> Child version, Counted Overprotection induceds SSLOC C = Nonciel Strickland Lease of Counted Scale for children; RCLDS\_JNX = Revised Child Native and Dypermits Roch, Antrice composite surver, legt damon variables are colled so that legt 1 compares Group L in Group 2 and legt 2 compares Group 2 to Group 3  $^{+-}$  of  $N^{+-}$  of  $N^{+-}$  of  $N^{+-}$ 

Table 9.

Multiple regression analyses predicting the RCADS\_ANX from the EMBU-C\_C/O, the NSLOC-C. and the interaction EMBU-C x NSLOC-C, in girls (N = 103)

		R	CADS_AN	X	
Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	В	SE	β	r
Step 1	.10				
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		.15	.44	.05	.33
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		86	.42	28	-2.04*
Step 2	.05				
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		14	.45	04	32
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		89	.41	29	-2.16*
EMBU-C_C/O		.09	.04	.24	2.45*
Step 3	.02				
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		17	.45	05	37
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		90	.41	29	-2.18*
EMBU-C C/O		.07	.04	.20	1.98
NSLOC-C		.05	.04	.14	1.39
EMBU-C C/O x NSLOC-C		.00	.01	.02	.18
Total R <sup>2</sup>	.16				
Note, EMBU-C C/O = "My memories of 1	[obvioping]	Child version	Control/Ove	rprotection :	mbscale;

Sate: Earlo V., Col. — Say moments of operatings. Units terrain, Control orderprotection summaria. SIGU C = Novich Strickland Learne (Comm Skadie for Mildowe, RALTS ANI "Revised Kild Antsiety and Depression Scale, Antsiety composite score; Age dummy variables are coded so that Age I compares Group 1 in Group 2 and Age 2 compares Group 2 to Group 3 "n < 68, "Pro < 61."</p>

Latly, the mediation and moderation analyses were tested with each maxity subscale of the RCADS (i.e., SAD, OCD, PD, SP, and GAD). Correlation, mediation, and moderation analyses recelled similar threads to the finding reported when using the anxiety composite score (see Appendices L - Q). Given that in all anxiety subscales, neither mediation nor moderation models were significant, it was determined that the results observed in the fittal scale were representative of the relationships among parental overprotection, shill LOC, and that maxiety in this parentation.

### Discussion

The purpose of this study was to assess mediation and moderation models of narental overprotection and child anxiety. Specifically, the study sought to investigate the role of child locus of control in the relationship between parental overprotection and child anxiety in a sample of youths ranging in age from 7 to 19 years. The first goal was to test child LOC as (i) a mediator between parental overprotection and child anxiety, and (ii) a moderator between narental overprotection and adolescent anxiety. The second goal was to assess whether the role of child LOC changed over child and adolescent development from a mediational variable to a moderational variable. Unexpectedly, the main finding from the present study was that although statistically significant relationships were found between parental overprotection, child LOC, and child anxiety in the full sample, these relationships were not significant within age groups. The two goals of the study were directly affected by these findings, since the lack of statistically significant relationships among the three variables of interest in the senarate age groups precluded any further testing of mediation or moderation models in any of the age groups. However, both mediation and moderation were tested in the full sample, and results suggested that a non-significant mediation model was a better fit than a moderation model.

As discussed in further detail below, the correlations were significant in the full sample but not within age groups. This finding may suggest that there are important differences between wide age ranges compared to separate age groups, and i could highlight the need to examine these relationships by age group. This unexpected finding may be particularly important for researchers who are examining these relationships to youth that are not sub-divided into age groups, since different findings emerge when examining the relationships globally across a wide age range compared to examining them by age group. In particular, studies that use a wide age range to examine these relationships could miss the different patterns of correlations that exist within separate age groups, and additionally, could suggest support for a mediation model that may only exist with a wide age range of youth. Overall, he lack of significant relationships between overprotection, child LOC, and child anxiety within age groups indicates the need for further investigation into the role of child age among these variables.

Since the present investigation was designed to assess child age as key variable, the first goal of the study was to test child LOC as a mediator and moderator of parental overpretection and child matexity in childber and adolescent. Therefore, the relationships between the main variables were first assessed using bi-variate correlations. In particular, it was predicted that there would be as significant relationship between parental overpretection and child LOC, such that higher levels of overpretection would be associated with an external loss of countor levels of overpretections there and emonstrated only in the youngest children. Although these findings were not consistent with predictions, small to medium non-significant correlations between parental overprotection and child LOC (were observed within the separate age groups (see 1946). Furthermore, the oldest group (Croups ), which half user participants than both other age groups (se = 17 × n = 60 & 60), had the strongest correlation between overprotection and thal LOC (~ 1, 1), yet the correlation was not significant. The correst table, it is not possible to hird our whether the non-significant correlations

between overprotection and child LOC are due to insufficient power, therefore future studies should employ larger sample sizes.

It was also predicted that there would be a significant retarionship between shild LOC and shild anxiety, such that an external child locus of control would be associated with higher levels of child anxiety. Contrary to predictions, this relationship was confirmed only in Group 2 (r - 39). This finding is comparable to Muris et al. (2004) who also found significant correlations between perceived control and anxiety in their pre-adelecent sample (r - 33). It is a likely possibility that although the expected trends were observed in the other age groups, significant correlations were not found between child LOC and child metricly due to insufficient power. Again, since the findings may be due to to yonce, finture mades should use larger sample sizes for separate age groups.

Following the finding of non-significant relationships between variables in the separate age groups, mediation and moderation models were only tested using the full supple. Although networks model was significant in the full sample, a mediation model better supported the relationship among wereprotection, LOC, and child anxiety. Specifically, with regards to the moderation model in the full sample, the results revealed that the addition of the interaction test of serveprotection and child LOC candid support betters respectively be variance in child anxiety. There have been discrepant theories between researchers regarding whether a moderation model equilain the relationship among overprotection, child LOC, and addencent anxiety (Chorpita & Barlow, 1998; Maris et al., 2004). The results from the present avestigation are consistent with several revisors studies that the set of food support in a moderation and consistent with several revisors studies that the set of food support in a moderation model callabal. LecCr. Buckley, & Woodniff-Borden, 2006; Spokas & Heimberg, 2009). However, Maris and colleagues (2004) concluded that although their results did not offer support for a moderation model for overprotection, perceived control, and anxiety, other forms of maladaptive parenting, such as anxious rearing, may support a moderational relationship with preveived control and anxiety:

The results from the present study revealed non-significant evidence of a partial mediation model in the full sample. Specifically, all of the steps in the mediation model were significant (see Table 5), but the Sobel test used to determine the effect of the mediator on the relationship between overprotection and anxiety did not reach significance for the partial mediation model (x-value = 1.78, p = .00). Mediation analyses in the full sample controlled for the child's age group, and age group accounted for a significant amount of variance in hold anxiety ( $C_1$ ,  $L_1$ ) = .675, p = .01, A = .00, A so discussed previously, this finding suggests that the child's membership to a particular at group affected the relationship between overpretextion, full GLO2, and shift anxiety.

Although the partial mediation model was not attainfaulty significant, the data from the present study are more indicative of a potential mediation relationship rather than a moderation relationship. Moreover, if the sample size was larger, and therefore the study had pratter power, if my have been possible to reach statistical significance. As the model stands with the current sample, the Sobel text for a partial mediation approached significance. This explanation could be tested by collecting more data to obtain higher values for separate age groups. A power analysis was conducted prior to the beginning of the current investigation, in which a mediation effect was a predicated and the separate to a great model and the study of the second particle was a predicated the second particle second relation second particle se (GPPower Analysis). As such, the total sample size for each group was required to be *n* = 74. However, it is possible that the effect is smaller than what was originally predicted, and therefore, the analyses could require as many as 543 participants to observe a small effect. Thus, the samples obtained in Groups 1 and 2 would not be sufficient to observe an effect. Again, the explanation of low power for the non-significant findings is one potential alternative explanation of the results that at this time, cannot be ruled out. Certainly, finder university to discident the appective mechanisms in which parentar rearries these and their discingion contribute to that maximy.

Although the non-significant correlation finding precluded test of mediation and moderation amongst the separate agg groups, similar correlation analyses across generative results travealed that mediation and moderation could be tested for girks. Specifically, in girks results recealed at mediation could be tested for girks. Specifically, in girks results recealed at mediation could be tested for girks. Specifically, in girks RCADS\_ANX and EMBU-C, and the RCADS\_ANX and NSLOC-C, a non-significant correlation was dismolerable. Can the NSLOC-C. This finding preduded further testing in bays. The mediation and moderation analyses using only girks revealed non-significant models, which was similar to the findings in the full sample. Although the findings may seem to suggest gasder differences, it is important to interpret the findings with cattion and the anomplemy out have been of sufficient size to observe an effect. Further investigation with more boys, or larger samples of both girks and boys, is necessary to test whether the findings were due to low power. In addition, girks for a dualition on moderation galaxies much was been recessing in one was the with section. similar tests were also conducted in using the anxiety subscales (i.e., SAD, CCD, PD, SP, and GAD). However, all of the analyses with the anxiety subscales yielded nonsignificant mediation and moderation models. As such, it was concluded that the results observed with the anxiety composite score were indicative of the relationships among corporetection, duble (ICO, and child anxiety in this population.

The results from the present study did yield other findings of interest. Specifically, the analyses of the present investigation revealed that (1) younger children reported higher levels of parental overprotection than older children, and (2) the youngest and oldest age groups reported higher overall levels of anxisty than the middle age group, but differed depending on the type of anxisty assessed (namely, separation anxisty disorder and obsensive compulsive disorder).

Firstly, the results of the present investigation revealed that younger dhildren reported significantly different levels of parental overprotection than adolescents. Specifically, level of parental overprotection were higher in the youngeng group, and levels of overprotection in the adolescent group. These findings provide further validation that the EMBU-C is measuring what it is intended to measure; specifically, one would expect to find the higher scores on the EMBU-C. CO are associated with younger children. During the development of the EMBU-C (the measure used for associated parental overprotection in dhildren), Catiro and colleagues (1993) assessed the relationship between EMBU-C, Catiro and colleagues (1993) assessed the relationship between EMBU-C, Catiro and the age of the children (measure).

of the subscales from the EMRU-C. In particular, negative correlations were observed between the child's age and the control subscale for both mothers and fathers (r = .29 and r = .36, respectively), indicating that younger children reported higher levels of parental control compared to older children in the sample.

The findings that levels of parental overprotection are higher in vounger children than older children are also consistent with more recent investigations. Muris, Meesters, and van Brakel (2003) investigated the psychometric properties of the EMBU-C in a sample of youths ranging in age from 9 to 17 years old. The study found that the ages of the children had small, yet significant, effects on levels of overprotection such that both maternal and paternal overprotection declined with increasing child age. Similarly, Brown and Whiteside (2008) reported findings concerning child age and levels of overprotection in a sample comprised of children with comparable ages to the present investigation (ranging from 7-18 years). Given the wide age range of participants, statistical analyses were completed with two age groups, younger children (7 - 12 years old) and older children (13 - 18 years old). Although no age differences were found for three of the four subscales of the FMBU-C, a significant difference was observed between the younger and older children on the overprotection subscale. Again, such findings offer support for the theory that younger children report more overprotective behaviours from their parents as compared to older children or adolescents.

Previous bodies of research have examined the detrimental effects of parental overprestection, as well as the specific psychological difficulties for children associated with limited opportunities to develop a sense of autonomy in their environment (McLeod et al., 2007). However, several theories in the past have suggested that the age of the child plays a nole in the differential effects that prental control or overportection can obser on a child's problem and "being. The developmental theories in previous work by Bacher, Olsen, and Shagle (1994) highlight the importance of considering whether the type of partnal control is appropriate for the child's age because not all forms of control are the same (Adaham & Tions-Werver, 2009).

Barber et al. (1994) suggest that there are important conceptual differences between the psychological control and the behavioural control of a child. Psychological control refers to the attempts made by parents to manipulate the child's thoughts or emotions, and can lead to problems if autonomy is limited. Conversely, behavioural control refers to managing a child's behaviour by creating a structured environment and establishing household rules or limits. These types of control can be compared to the types of parenting styles described by Baumrind (1966) as both approaches support a positive role for control. Baumrind defines an authoritative parent as one who is high in control and high in warmth. Authoritative parents show control by setting limits and rules for their children and enforcing them, but they also show warmth by discussing the reasons for the actions and demonstrating affection for the child. Authoritative parenting utilizes parental control techniques that are similar to the behavioural control described by Barber et al. (1994) such that the control is used in a positive way. Furthermore, Barber and colleagues (1994) suggest that while children are developing, they actually require a certain amount of behavioural regulation in order to learn the structure or rules associated with social interactions and societal functioning. Thus, it follows that younger

children, with less knowledge about behavioural regulation and social expectations, may report higher levels of parental overprotection since they require greater control from their parents, as was found in the present study.

Since psychological control and behavioural control were not explicitly measured in the current investigation, it is not possible to determine exactly which type of parental control might have been higher for the youngest children. However, it is possible to compare items from the EMBU-C in the present study to items from other inventories which assess psychological and behavioural control. Barber and colleagues (1994) analyzed the Child Report of Parent Behavior Inventory (CRPBI) and the Colorado Self-Report of Family Functioning Inventory (CSRFFI) to empirically distinguish between psychological and behavioural control. Many of the items from the EMBU-C are closely related to items that were classified as representative of psychological control, while few items may be representative of behavioural control. For example, similar items are "Your parents take care that you behave by the rules" from the EMBU-C, and "Mother insists that I must do exactly as I am told" from the CRPBI, which was classified as measuring nsychological control. It is possible that the EMBU-C assesses constructs that are more closely related to psychological control, which Barber et al. (1994) found was associated with internalizing problems in their investigation with an adolescent sample. Further investigation into psychological and behavioural control in youths is needed to determine the exact nature of the control being measured with the EMBU-C.

An additional finding of the present study was that the youngest children and the adolescents had higher overall levels of anxiety than the middle age group, but differed depending on the type of markety reported (i.e., SAD, COD). First, the results revealed that younger children had higher sorress on the separation anxiety disorder (SAD) subscale of the RCADS (anxiety measure) compared to the older children or adolescents. The main facture of SAD is excessive or impropriate fearmativity regarding the separation from home or from people to whom the individual is attached (Mash & Barkley, 2003). Since it is developmentally appropriate for young children (up until the age of approximately or yans old to be anxious regarding their separation from their parents, it is not surprising that younger children display more separation markety than older children or adolescent (Brenstine R for bordurd, 1991).

Firmeric, Last, and Strauss (1997) assessed the expression of SAD symptoms in relation to child age and gender in a clinical sample. While no differences in SAD symptoms were found between boys and girls, the authors reported that interesting age differences were present for the total amount of SAD symptoms present. Similar to the present study, the authors divided the children into three age groups for the statistical comparisons. Note however, Francis and colleagues used younger age groups compared to the current investigation (5 - 8, 9 - 12, 14 - 16 years compared to 8 - 10, 12 - 14, 16 -18 years). The authors recaled that the younger children in the study reported a group merity of DSM-III diagnostic criteria for separation anxiety than the middle children did. Interestingly, so significant differences were found in the number of SAD symptoms between the youngoet children in the adobecents, indicating that young children in dia descenses the that sufficient four the adobecents. Indicating that young children in dia descenses the that sufficient the sufficience of the suffici

The present study found that SAD scores did not differ significantly between the young children and the adolescents, which suggests that adolescents had SAD scores similar to the young children. Also, a non-significant trend was observed such that SAD scores were higher in the adolescent group (Group 3) than the middle group (Group 2). As these findings were unexpected in both studies, and other investigations (Allen, Lavalleea. Herrena. Ruhea. & Schneider. 2010) have not reported an effect of age on SAD scores, replication in a larger sample of clinical and non-clinical youths is recommended. One possible explanation for these findings is the low number of adolescents in the studies (Francis et al., 1987, n = 9; present study, n = 17) which may not be representative of the adolescent population. Another possible explanation may be related to the fact that SAD has been associated with the development of panic disorder, which typically emerges in adolescence (Klein, 1995; Last & Strauss, 1989). Therefore, it is possible that adolescents are responding to the SAD items that may be closely related to the physiological hyper-arousal symptoms associated with panic. Overall, there are inconclusive findings regarding the effects of child age on levels of SAD symptoms, and therefore further investigation is warranted.

The present study also found that the child's age was related to their reported levels of obsensive-compatibie (CDD) socress. The main features of OCD are intrusive and reoccurring obsensions and compulsions that cause distress. Specifically, the youngest groups (Group 1) had higher OCD scores than the two older age groups (Group 1 and 3). Additionally, no difference was found in OCD scores for Group 2 and Group. suggesting that rather than a decreasing age trend for OCD scores, perhaps a meaningful difference in OCD scores exists between the youngest group and the older participants.

For children and adolescents, previous findings have suggested that the mean age of onset for OCD symptoms is between 10 and 13 years old. However, some cases have reported younger onset (Mash & Barkley, 2003). In a review of 70 children and adolescents with OCD, Swedo, Rapoport, Leonard, Lenane, & Cheslow, (1989) described some children with the age of onset as young as 2 years old for the annearance of symptoms. However, the mean are of onset for the children was 10.1 years (SD = 3.52 years). This finding is similar to the present study in which Group 1, with the age range of 8 - 10 years old, had the highest OCD scores. Although the onset for OCD symptoms may be at a young age, it does not necessarily explain why the OCD scores would be highest in the youngest group. One possible explanation may be that parental overprotection scores were also highest in the youngest group, and researchers have argued that parental overprotection contributes to OCD symptoms (Smari, Martinsson, & Einarsson, 2010). Smari and colleagues (2010) revealed that parental overprotection and OCD symptoms were positively correlated in a non-clinical sample of young adults, such that higher levels of overprotection were associated with higher OCD scores. Additionally, other studies in the area of OCD research (Frost et al., 1994; Cavedo & Parker, 1994) have found that in sub-clinical populations, parental overprotection is related to symptoms of OCD. Although this hypothesis was not tested in the present study, parental overprotection may play a role in the elevated reported levels of OCD symptoms in the youngest group compared to the older age groups.

### Strengths and Limitations

A trength of the present wally was addeesing limitations from previous parentchild research (Rapee, 1997). One of the main methodological limitations in this line of purpose child research is the absence of a consetive heurerical mode within studies. Researchers have used a variety of measures, variables, and methods for assessing similar constructs due to this lack of unified rationale for investigating the relationship between purential overprotection and child anxiety. Despite having a common research pool, the discrepancy between undices on lack of difficulties in darwing consistent conclusions. As such, the current investigation employed a model that has been examined and tested in previous empirical studies (e.g., Chorpita, et al., 1998; Muris, et al., 2004; Spedua & Heinberg, 2009). The similarity between the current investigation and past studies will allow researchers to main family there exerts investigation and past studies will allow researchers to mainfam of there exerts investigation and past studies will allow researchers to mainfam of the previous and barries on a unified model.

A finither strength of the present study is the use of shill self-export, ruber than retrospective adult reports. Retrospective data collection from an adult sample may be more consisted than child-reports. However, as Rapee (1997) ideases, the validity of the adult reports may be questioned due to a possible recollection bias, or the amount of time between childhood and adult data collection. Adultionally, the studies that due utilize child samples rarely specify the child's a gar group or developmental stage. Therefore, the present investigation used a child self-export method, which increased the external validity of the findings. Furthermore, the present investigation tested well-defined aga groups, blieb, all proved for clear comparisons with other studies utilizing defined aga groups, However, a posting limitation due cells when recentent attents to the studies of the clear that is the studies with the studies attenting age. investigate psychological or behavioural constructs within specific age groups when they are actually looking for a correspondence with a developmental stage. The present study used only chronological age as a marker of defining groups (i.e. childbood, adolescence), but there may not be a perfect correlation between certain cognitive or emotional attributes and chronological age. Thus, it is important to note that the age groups defined and discussed in the present tudy may not perfectly represent or correspond to the development attages of childbood and adolescence.

There are other limitations from the present study that are also worth noting. An acceptable, yet low, internal consistency was found for the NSLOC-C scale in the full sample ( $\alpha$  = .64 - .66). A moderate internal consistency is usually considered to be above .70. However, the internal consistency found in this study was comparable to previous studies using this subscale (Nowicki & Strickland, 1973). Specifically, in previous investigations, the internal consistency was .63 for grades three and four, .68 for grades seven and eight, and .74 for grade eleven. These estimates of reliability are comparable to those found across grades in the present study (ranging from a = .62 - .70). Yet, results using the NSLOC-C scale should still be interpreted with caution. An exception to the accentable findings of internal consistencies for the NSLOC-C is the Group 3 hovs, in which the reliability was a = .23, which is extremely low. Furthermore, the EMBU-C C/O subscale was found to have moderate to high reliability in most age groups. However, analyses revealed that the samples of boys in Group 2 and Group 3 had very low internal consistencies (a = .41 and a = .11, respectively). Because of the low reliability in the NSLOC-C and the EMBU-C C/O, the sample of boys in Group 3 (n = 3)

was excluded from the analyses. Despite the low reliability in the EMBU-C\_CO for the sample of hops in Group 2, the sample was not excluded due to the acceptable levels of internal consistency for the RCADS and the NSLOC-C. Although the boys were not excluded, the reports of puerstal overpretection in Group 2 should be interpreted with cation nince the boy and grift samples were combined in further analyses.

A second limitation was that only one measure was used to assess each of the main constructs in the present study. Therefore, it is not possible to analyze the validity. of the reported findings. Using additional self-report measures for each construct or using concurrent parental reports to assess the constructs of interest may have increased the validity. Specifically for the parental overprotection, the EMBU-C in the present study is a child self-report and reflects the child's perception of their parents' controlling behaviours, rather than an actual measure of the parenting behaviours themselves. Furthermore, the parent did not provide a self-report so it is not possible to investigate how the parent perceives the nature of the parent-child relationship. Thus, in addition to using child self-report measures, researchers could consider using different modalities to investigate these research questions. Possible techniques could include interviewing the child, parent, or both, or using a longitudinal design in order to obtain a more information about the parent-child relationships. Also, since many of the studies assess similar constructs with varying labels or measures (ex. NSLOC vs. PCS, or EMBU-C vs. FES), it may be important to use multiple measures in order to determine whether or not the constructs have a significant amount of shared variance.

Thirdly, due to the time constraints of the study, and the low consent rate at the high schools, a lower than expected number of participants was obtained in the Group 3 (grade 11 and 12 sample. While other grades had slightly higher consent rates, the grade II and 12 sample only had a 5% consent rate, which resulted in a sample size of 20 for Group 3. A small sample size can lead to ministerpretations and show an inaccurate representation of the true population. Also, there may have been a self-selection bias such that parents may have been interested in the study either beesause their children are welladjusted or because they have many problem. In addition, the beys in the Group 3 sample were excluded due to low internal consistencies on the inventories, and therefore, the results from Group 3 may only be representative of adolescent grids. There was also a grader inequiry jaccoss the full sample, and therefore presentative of isolds be interpreted with eatims and the present results may be more there findings should be interpreted with eatims the present results may be more presentiative of isolds be interpreted with eatims the present results may be more presentiative of isolability.

Two additional limitations of the current study are: the lacks of diversity in the ethnic background of the participants, and ii) the absence of parental relationship information. First, there was little diversity of participants' ethnic backgrounds in the present study, as the sample was drawn from St. John's, Newfoundland, which is a very homogeneous population. As such, it is not possible to extend the findings of the current investigation to all ethnic backgrounds, but further studies should include participants with more ethnically diverse backgrounds in order to increase the external validity of the findings. In addition, obtaining information about the person that the child considered the partert might be useful in order to determine whether the nature of the parent-diral etidationship has an informace on the link between correstoretistic, uses of control, and the findings.

child anxiety. Specifically, parenting differences may exist between mothers and fathers, as well as within various parental relationships (i.e., biological, adopted, step-parent, etc). A question regarding this relationship could be included on a demographic form.

# **Future Directions**

The findings from the present study suggest that additional research is necessary to properly evaluate the theory proposed by Chorpita & Barlow (1998) regarding the role of Oceas of corrett as mediator emandement of the relationship between parental rearing styles, particularly parental overprotection, and shild anxiety. Because it was not possible to evaluate the mediation and moderation models in separate age groups, this research remains an area for fluture investigation. The present results, however, many suggest that the patterns of correlations differ by age and that by combining all age groups together, the results not only off's support for significant relationships between the variables, but also offer support for a mediation model. Therefore, while the remults of the present study can still contribute to the growing body of research concerning perceived control in the relationship between parent reation allows's theory:

In addition to cross-sectional investigations of the models in the separate age groups, it would be beneficial to conduct longitudinal studies with children and their parents to assess the changes in the parent-child relationship across development. To date, there are few studies that have critically assessed the relationship among parental overprotection, child locus of control, and child anxiety, and a longitudinal investigation have to be conducter. Future studies that three longitudinal design may be able to obtain a clearer understanding of the parent-child relationship, rather than solely discuss the cross-sectional nature of the relationships.

As discussed above, another aim for future studies could be to use multiple measures modalities or both to assess the main constructs of interest. Specifically, the present investigation used three empirically supported self-report measures, but using additional measures for each construct could increase the validity of the findings. Furthermore, although a substantial amount of parent-child research employs parent report or observation of the family, there is little, if any, research on the Chorpita and Barlow (1998) model using these methods of assessment. In particular, it would be useful to obtain parent reports of their perceived parenting behaviours or of their perception of their child's anxiety to corroborate child reports of the same constructs. It would also be beneficial to conduct studies with observational techniques to gain further information of the parent-child interactions, which could ascertain behavioural levels of parental overprotection, or anxious behaviour by the child. The use of various valid and reliable methodology will allow researchers to draw appropriate inferences about the relationships between parental rearing styles, locas of control, and anxiety, as well as gain insight into the possible mechanisms contributing to the parent-child relationship.

While there is a growing body of research regarding the effects of parenting styles and control-related cognitions on the development of child anxiety, it is evident many issues must still be resolved in order to draw appropriate conclusions about the relationships among these variables. Although many studies suggest that overprotection and loss of control are ink factors for the development of child anxiety, other related factors, such as the child's age, must be more thoroughly investigated with regards to these relationships. If future investigations are able to charify the relationships among overpretection, child LOC, and child anxiety, the research findings could contribute to our understanding of parent-child relationships in general. Specifically, researchers could target further investigations towards certain age groups that may be the most vulnershib to the dertimental effects of overprioriction or external locus of control.

### Conclusion

The purpose of the present investigation was to assess the role of child locus of control within the relationship between parental overprotection and child anxiety. This relationship could not be tested within the proposed age groups due to the lack of significant relationships among the main variables. Therefore, the results from the present study suggest that findings are still inconclusive regarding the mediation and moderation models proposed by Chorpita and Barlow (1998), and that further studies are required to draw conclusions about their parent-child theory. Despite the fact that the models could not be tested within separate are groups, the present study was able to shed light on the possibility that important are differences exist in these relationships. Specifically, the findings that there were no significant relationships among overprotection, child LOC. and child anxiety within separate age groups is of importance, particularly if researchers are investigating these relationships without looking at age as a related contributor. As such, the current study contributes to the larger body of research concerning parent-child relationships, and provides support for investigating the role of child age, as well as parenting and cognitive risk factors, in the development of child anxiety,

#### References

- Allen, J. L., Lavalleea, K. L., Herrena, C., Ruhea, K., & Schmeider, S. (2010). DSM-HV criteria for childhood separation anxiety disorder: Informant, age, and sex differences. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 24, 946-952. doi: 10.1016/j.janzdis. 2010.06.022
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). Washington, DC: Author.
- Ballash, N., Leyfer, O., Buckley, A. F., & Woodruff-Borden, J. (2006). Parental Control in the Etiology of Anxiety. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 9(2), 113-133. doi: 10.1007/s10567-006-0007-z
- Barber, B. K., Olsen, J. E., & Shagle, S. C. (1994). Associations between Parental Psychological and Behavioral Control and Youth Internalized and Externalized Behaviors. *Child Development*, 65, 1120-1136. doi: 10.2307/1131309
- Baron, R. M., & Kemy, D. A. (1986). The Moderator-Mediator Variable Distinction in Social Psychological Research: Conceptual, Strategic, and Statistical Considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(6), 1173-1182. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.51.0173
- Barrett, P. M., Fox, T., & Farrell, L. J. (2005). Parent-Child Interactions With Anxious Children and With Their Siblings: An Observational Study. *Behaviour Change*, 22(4), 220–235. doi: 10.1375/bech.22.4.220
- Baumrind, D. (1966). Effects of Authoritative Parental Control on Child Behavior. Child Development, 37(4), 887-907. doi: 10.2307/1126611

- Beesdo, K., Knappe, S., & Pine, D. S. (2009). Anxiety and Anxiety Disorders in Children and Adolescents: Developmental Issues and Implications for DSM-V. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 32(3), 483-524. doi: 10.1016/j.psc.2009.06.002
- Bernstein, G. A., & Borchardt, C. M. (1991). Anxiety disorders of childhood and adolescence: A critical review. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 30(4), 519-532. doi: 10.1097/00004583-199107000-00001
- Bögels, S. M., van Oosten, A., Muris, P., & Smulders, D. (2001). Familial correlates of social anxiety in children and adolescents. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 39, 273–287. doi: 10.1016/s0005-7967(00)00005-X
- Bolton, D., Eley, T. C., O'COMOY, T. G., Perrin, S., Rahe-Hesketh, S., Rijidijk, F., & Smith, P. (2006). Prevalence and genetic and environmental influences on anxiety disorders in 6-year-old twins. *Psychological Medicine*, 36, 335-344. doi:10.1017/ S003329705005537
- Brown, A. M., & Whiteside, S. P. (2008). Relations among perceived parental rearing behaviors, attachment style, and worry in anxious children. *Anxiety Disorders*, 22, 263–272. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2007.02.002
- Castro, J., Toro, J., Van der Ende, J., & Arrindell, W. A. (1993). Exploring the feasibility of assessing perceived parental rearing styles in Spanish children with the EMBU. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 39, 47–57. doi: 10.1177/
- Cavedo, L. C., & Parker, G. (1994). Parental bonding instrument: Exploring for links between scores and obsessionality. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 29, 78–82.
- Chorpita, B. F., & Barlow, D. H. (1998). The development of anxiety: The role of control in the early environment. *Psychological Bulletin*, 124, 3–21. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.124.1.3
- Chorpita, B. F., Brown, T. A., & Barlow, D. H. (1998). Perceived Control as a Mediator of Family Environment in Etiological Models of Childhood Anxiety. *Behavior Therapy*, 29, 457–476. doi: 10.1016/S0005-7894(98)80043-9
- Chorpita, B. F., Vim, L., Moffin, C., Uimemoto, L. A., & Francis, S. E. (2000). Assessment of symptons of DSM-1V anxiety and depression in children: A revised child activity and depression scale. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 38, 333–355. doi: 10.1016/S0005-7967(99)00170-8
- Flesch, R. (1948). A new readability yardstick. Journal of Applied Psychology, 32(3), 221–233, doi: 10.1037/h0057532
- Francis, G., Last, C. G., & Strauss, C. C. (1987). Expression of Separation Anxiety Disorder: The Roles of Age and Gender. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 18(2), 82-89. doi: 10.1007/BF00709952
- Frost, R. O., Steketee, G., Cohn, L., & Griess, K. (1994). Personality traits in subclinical and non-obsessive-compulsive volunteers and their parents. *Behaviour Research* and Therapy, 32, 47–56. doi: 10.1017/S1352465803003023

- Gruner, K., Muris, P., & Meckelbach, H. (1999). The relationship between anxious rearing behaviors and anxiety disorders symptomatology in normal children. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 30, 27–35. doi: 10.1016/s50065-791(69900004-X
- Holmbeck, G. N. (1997). Toward Terminological, Conceptual, and Statistical Clarity in the Study of Mediators and Moderators: Examples From the Child-Clinical and Pediatric Psychology Literatures. *Journal of Comsulting and Clinical Psychology*, 65(4), 599-610. doi: 10.1077/0022-000C.65.4.599
- Kakihara, F., & Tilton-Weaver, L. (2009). Adolescents' Interpretations of Parental Control: Differentiated by Domain and Types of Control. *Child Development*, 89(6), 1722–1738, doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01364.x
- Karevold, E., Røysamb, E., Ystrom, E., & Mathiesen, K. S. (2009). Predictors and Pathways From Infancy to Symptoms of Anxiety and Depression in Early Adolescence. *Developmental Psychology*, 45, 1051–1060. doi: 10.1037/a0016123
- Kerlinger, F. N., & Lee, H. B. (2000). Foundations of Behavioural Research (4<sup>th</sup> ed., pp. 674-675). Toronto, ON: Nelson Thompson Learning.
- Klein, R. G. (1995). Is panic disorder associated with childhood separation anxiety disorder? Clinical Neuropharmacology, 18(Suppl 2), S7-S14.
- Last, C. G., & Strauss, C. C. (1989). Panic disorder in children and adolescents. Journal of Anxiety Disorders, 3(2), 87-95. doi: 10.1016/0887-6185(89)90003-0

- Li, H. C. W., & Chung, O. K. J. (2009). The Relationship Between Children's Locus of Control and Their Anticipatory Anxiety. *Public Health Nursing*, 26, 153-160. doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1446.2009.00766.x
- Mash, E. J., & Barkley, R. A. (2003). Child Psychopathology (2<sup>nd</sup> ed., pp. 279). New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- McClure, L. F., Chinsky, J. M., & Larcen, S. W. (1978). Enhancing Social Problem-Solving Performance in an Elementary School Setting. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 70, 504-513. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.70.4.504
- McLeod, B.D., Wood, J.J., & Weisz, J.R. (2007). Examining the association between parenting and childhood anxiety: A meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 27, 155–172. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2006.09.002
- Muris, P., Mensters, C., Schouten, E., & Hoge, IL (2004). Effects of Perceived Control on the Relationship Between Perceived Parental Rearing Behaviors and Symptoms of Anxiety and Depression in Nonclinical Presadolescents. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 33, 51–58. doi: 10.1023/s102733414021
- Muris, P., Meesters, C., & van Brekel, A. (2003). Assessment of Anxious Rearing Behaviors with a Medified Version of "Egns Minnen Bet" affande Uppfostran" Questionnaire for Children. Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment. 25(4), 229-237. doi: 10.1023/s/1025894024131
- Norwicki, S., & Strickland, B. (1973). A Locus of Control Scale for Children. Journal of Clinical and Consulting Psychology, 40, 148-154. doi: 10.1037/h0033978

Onatsu-Arvilonmi, T., Nurmi, J., & Aunola, K. (1998). Mothers' and fathers' well-being, parenting styles, and their children's cognitive and behavioural strategies at primary school. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 13(4), 543-556. doi: 10.1007/BF03173104

- Parker, G. (1979). Reported parental characteristics of agoraphobics and social phobies. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 135, 555-560. doi: 10.1192/bjp.135.6.555
- Pomerantz, E. M., & Wang, Q. (2009). The Role of Parental Control in Children's Development in Western and East Asian Countries. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 18, 285-289. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8721.2009.01653.x

Rapee, R. M. (1997). Potential role of childrearing practices in the development of anxiety and depression. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 17, 47–67. doi: 10.1016/S0272-7358(90)00040-2

- Rotter, J. B. (1966). Generalized expectancies for internal versus external control of reinforcement. *Psychological Managruphs*, 80 (No. 669). In Vasey, M. W., and Dadda, M. R., (eds.), The Developmental Psychopathology of Anxiety, Oxford University Press, New York, pp. 119.
- Sideridis, G. D., & Kafetsios, K. (2008). Perceived parental bonding, fear of failure and stress during class presentations. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 32(2), 119–130. doi: 10.1177/0165025407087210
- Siqueland, L., Kendall, P. C., & Steinberg, L. (1996). Anxiety in children: Perceived family environments and observed family interaction. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 25(2), 225-237. doi: 10.1207/s15374424jccp2502\_12

- Smari, J., Martinsson, D. R., & Einansson, H. (2010). Rearing practices and impulsivity hyperactivity symptoms in relation to inflated responsibility and obsessivecompulsive symptoms. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 51(5), 392-397.
- Spokas, M., & Heimherg, R. G. (2009). Overprotective Parenting. Social Anxiety, and External Locus of Control: Cross-sectional and Longitudinal Relationships. *Cognitive Therapy Research*, 33, 543-551. doi: 10.1007/s10608-0029227-5
- Swedo, S. E., Rapoport, J. L., Leonard, H. L., Lemane, M., & Cheslow, D. (1989). Obsessive-computative disorder in children and adotecents: Clinical phenomenology of 70 consecutive cases. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 46(4), 335-341.
- Vasey, M. W., & Dadds, M. R. (2001). The Developmental Psychopathology of Anxiety (1<sup>st</sup> ed., pp. 117-128). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Warash, B. G., & Markstrom, C. A. (2001). Parental perceptions of parenting styles in relation to academic self-esteem of pre-schoolers. *Education*, 121(3), 485-493.

## APPENDIX A

Demographic Information Questionnaire

### Demographic Information Questionnaire

- 1. What grade are you in? (circle one) 3<sup>rd</sup> 4<sup>th</sup> 7<sup>th</sup> 8<sup>th</sup> 11<sup>th</sup> 12<sup>th</sup>
- How old are you? \_\_\_\_\_\_
- 3. What month were you born?
- 4. What year were you born?
- 5. Circle which one you are.
  - a. Boy
  - b. Girl

6. Who do you live with?

- a. I live mostly or only with my mom.
- b. I live mostly or only with my dad.
- c. I spend about the same time living with my mom and dad but they do not live together
- d. I do not live with my mom or dad, but I live with \_\_\_\_\_
- e. I live with my mom and dad together.

7. How many sisters do you have? (write 0 if you do not have any sisters) \_\_\_\_\_

8. How many brothers do you have? (write 0 if you do not have brothers) \_\_\_\_

- 9. Which of the following is your ethnic group
  - a. White
  - b. Black
  - c. East Asian (e.g. Chinese, Japanese, Korean)
  - d. South Asian (e.g. Indian, Pakistani, Sri Lankan)
  - e. Native (e.g. Inuit, Metis)
  - f. Mixed
  - g. Other \_\_\_\_\_

10. What do your parent's do (even if they do not work now)?

a. Father's type of work \_\_\_\_\_\_

b. Mother's type of work \_\_\_\_\_

## APPENDIX B

"My Memories of Upbringing" Child Questionnaire (EMBU-C)

## "My Memories of Upbringing" Child Questionnaire (EMBU-C)

Please mark the circle under the word that shows how often each of these things happen to you. There are no right or wrong answers.

		l No, never	2 Yes, but seldom	3 Yes, often	4 Yes, most of the time
1.	When you come home, you have to tell your parents what you have been doing	0	0	0	0
2.	When you are unhappy, your parents console you and cheer you up	0	0	0	0
3.	Your parents want you to reveal your secrets to them	0	0	0	0
4.	Your parents tell you that they don't like your behaviour at home	0	0	0	0
5.	Your parents like you just the way you are	0	0	0	0
6.	Your parents worry about what you are doing after school	0	0	0	0
7.	y our parents play with you and are interested in your hobbies	0	0	0	0
o. 9.	Your parents are afraid that something might barnen to you	0	0	0	0
10.	Your parents listen to you and consider your opinion	0	0	0	0
11.	Your parents wish that you were like somebody else	0	0	0	0
12.	Your parents want to decide how you should be dressed or how you should look	0	0	0	0
13.	Your parents worry about you getting into trouble	0	0	0	0
14.	Your parents blamed you for everything that goes wrong	0	0	0	0
15. 16.	Your parents punish you for no reason Your parents tell you what you should do	0	0	0	0
17.	after school hours Your parents want to be with you	0	0	0	0
18.	Your parents worry about you doing dangerous things	0	0	0	0

		l No, never	2 Yes, but seldom	3 Yes, often	4 Yes, most of the time
19.	Your parents show that they love you	0	0	0	0
20.	Your parents criticize you in front of others	0	0	0	0
22.	Your parents worry about you making a mistake	0	0	0	0
23.	You feel disappointed because your parents don't give you what you want	0	0	0	0
24,	Your parents allow you to decide what you want to do*	0	0	0	0
25.	Your parents take care that you behave by the rules	0	0	0	0
20.	Your parents are atraid when you do something on your own	0	0	0	0
27.	Your parents and you like each other	0	0	0	0
28.	towards you	0	0	0	0
29.	Your parents are anxious people and therefore you are not allowed to do as many things as other children	0	0	0	0
30.	When you have done something stupid, you can make it up with your parents	0	0	0	0
31.	Your parents watch you very carefully Your parents think that they have to	0	0	0	0
	decide everything for you	0	0	0	0
33.	Your parents give you compliments	0	0	0	0
34.	If something happens at home, you are the one who gets blamed for it	0	0	0	0
35.	Your parents warn you of all possible dangers	0	0	0	0
36.	Your parents help you when you have to do something difficult	0	0	0	0
37.	Your parents are worried when they don't know what you are doing	0	0	0	0
38.	Your parents keep a check on you Your parents want to keep you from all	0	0	0	0
271	possible dangers	0	0	0	0

## APPENDIX C

"My Memories of Upbringing" Adolescent Questionnaire (EMBU-A)

## "My Memories of Upbringing" Adolescent Questionnaire (EMBU-A)

Please mark the circle under the word that shows how often each of these things happened to you when you were 9 years old. There are no right or wrong answers.

		l No, never	2 Yes, but seldom	3 Yes, often	4 Yes, most of the time
L.	When you come home, you have to tell your parents what you have been doing	0	0	0	0
2.	When you are unhappy, your parents console you and cheer you up	0	0	0	0
3.	Your parents want you to reveal your secrets to them	0	0	0	0
4. 5.	your behaviour at home Your parents like you just the way you	00	00	00	00
6.	are Your parents worry about what you are doing after school	0	0	0	0
7.	Your parents play with you and are interested in your hobbies	0	0	0	0
8. 9.	Your parents treat you unfairly Your parents are afraid that something might happen to you	0	0	0	0
10.	Your parents listen to you and consider your opinion	0	0	0	0
11.	Your parents wish that you were like somebody else	0	0	0	0
12.	should be dressed or how you should look	0	0	0	0
13.	trouble	0	0	0	0
14.	Your parents blamed you for everything that goes wrong	0	0	0	0
15. 16.	Your parents punish you for no reason Your parents tell you what you should do	0	0	0	0
17.	Your parents want to be with you	0	0	õ	0
18.	y our parents worry about you doing dangerous things	0	0	0	0

		l No, never	2 Yes, but seldom	3 Yes, often	4 Yes, most of the time
19.	Your parents show that they love you	0	0	0	0
20.	Your parents criticize you in front of others	0	0	0	0
22.	Your parents worry about you making a mistake	0	0	0	0
23.	You feel disappointed because your parents don't give you what you want	0	0	0	0
24.	Your parents allow you to decide what you want to do*	0	0	0	0
25.	y our parents take care that you behave by the rules	0	0	0	0
26.	Your parents are alraid when you do something on your own	0	0	0	0
27.	Your parents and you like each other	0	0	0	0
201	towards you	0	0	0	0
29.	Your parents are anxious people and therefore you are not allowed to do as many things as other children	0	0	0	0
30.	When you have done something stupid, you can make it up with your parents	0	0	0	0
31.	Your parents watch you very carefully	0	0	0	0
32.	Your parents think that they have to decide exerciting for you	0	0	0	0
33.	Your parents give you compliments	õ	ō	ō	ō
34.	If something happens at home, you are the one who gets blamed for it	0	0	0	0
35.	Your parents warn you of all possible dangers	0	0	0	0
36.	Your parents help you when you have to do something difficult	0	0	0	0
37.	Your parents are worried when they don't know what you are doing	0	0	0	0
38. 39.	Your parents keep a check on you Your parents want to keep you from all	0	0	0	0
	possible dangers	0	0	0	0

## APPENDIX D

Nowicki-Strickland Locus of Control Scale for Children (NSLOC-C)

## Nowicki-Strickland Locus of Control Scale for Children (NSLOC-C)

Please read each item carefully and put a circle around the word that shows how you feel about the question. There are no right or wrong answers.

<ol> <li>Do you believe that most problems will solve themselves if you just don't fool with them?</li> </ol>	YES	NO
2. Do you believe that you can stop yourself from catching a cold ?	YES	NO
3. Are some kids just born lucky?	YES	NO
4. Most of the time do you feel that getting good grades means a great deal to you?	YES	NO
5. Are you often blamed for things that just aren't your fault?	YES	NO
6. Do you believe that if somebody studies hard enough he or she can pass any subject?	YES	NO
7. Do you feel that most of the time it doesn't pay to try hard because things never turn out right anyway?	YES	NO
8. Do you feel that if things start out well in the morning that it's going to be a good day no matter what you do?	YES	NO
9. Do you feel that most of the time parents listen to what their children have to say?	YES	NO
10. Do you believe that wishing can make good things happen?	YES	NO
11. When you get punished does it usually seem it's for no good reason at all?	YES	NO
12. Most of the time do you find it hard to change a friend's (mind) opinion?	YES	NO
13. Do you think that cheering more than luck helps a team to win?	YES	NO
14. Do you feel that it's nearly impossible to change your parent's mind about anything?	YES	NO
15. Do you believe that your parents should allow you to make	YES	NO

# most of your own decisions?

16. Do you feel that when you do something wrong there's very little you can do to make it right?	YES	NO
17. Do you believe that most kids are just born good at sports?	YES	NO
18. Are most of the other kids your age stronger than you are?	YES	NO
19. Do you feel that one of the best ways to handle most problems is just not to think about them?	YES	NO
20. Do you feel that you have a lot of choice in deciding who your friends are?	YES	NO
21. If you find a four leaf clover do you believe that it might bring you good luck?	YES	NO
22. Do you often feel that whether you do your homework has much to do with what kind of grades you get?	YES	NO
23. Do you feel that when a kid your age decides to hit you, there's little you can do to stop him or her?	YES	NO
24. Have you ever had a good luck charm?	YES	NO
25. Do you believe that whether or not people like you depends on how you act?	YES	NO
26. Will your parents usually help you if you ask them to?	YES	NO
27. Have you felt that when people were mean to you it was usually for no reason at all?	YES	NO
28. Most of the time, do you feel that you can change what might happen tomorrow by what you do today?	YES	NO
29. Do you believe that when bad things are going to happen they just are going to happen no matter what you try to do to stop them?	YES	NO
30. Do you think that kids can get their own way if they just keep trying?	YES	NO
31. Most of the time do you find it useless to try to get your	YES	NO

own way at home?

32. Do you feel that when good things happen they happen because of hard work?	YES	NO
33. Do you feel that when somebody your age wants to be your enemy there's little you can do to change matters?	YES	NO
34. Do you feel that it's easy to get friends to do what you want them to?	YES	NO
35. Do you usually feel that you have little to say about what you get to eat at home?	YES	NO
36. Do you feel that when someone doesn't like you there's little you can do about it?	YES	NO
37. Do you usually feel that it's almost useless to try in school because most other children are just plain smarter than you are?	YES	NO
38. Are you the kind of person who believes that planning ahead makes things turn out better?	YES	NO
39. Most of the time, do you feel that you have little to say about what your family decides to do?	YES	NO
40. Do you think it's better to be smart than to be lucky?	YES	NO

## APPENDIX E

Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scale (RCADS)

## Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scale (RCADS)

Please put a circle around the word that shows how often each of these things happen to you. There are no right or wrong answers.

1.	I worry about things.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
2.	I feel sad or empty.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
3.	When I have a problem, I get a funny feeling in my stomach.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
4.	I worry when I think I have done poorly at something.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
5.	I would feel afraid of being on my own at home.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
6,	Nothing is much fun anymore.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
7.	I feel scared when I have to take a test.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
8.	I feel worried when I think someone is angry with me.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
9.	I worry about being away from my parents.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
10.	I get bothered by bad or silly thoughts or pictures in my mind.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
п.	I have trouble sleeping,	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
12.	I worry that I will do badly at my school work.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
13.	I worry that something awful will happen to someone in my family.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
14.	I suddenly feel as if I can't breathe when there is no reason for this.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
15.	I have problems with my appetite.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always

16.	I have to keep checking that I have done things right (like the switch is off, or the door is locked)	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
17.	I feel scared if I have to sleep on my own.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
18.	I have trouble going to school in the mornings because I feel nervous or afraid.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
19.	I have no energy for things.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
20.	I worry I might look foolish.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
21.	I am tired a lot.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
22.	I worry that bad things will happen to me.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
23.	I can't seem to get bad or silly thoughts out of my head.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
24.	When I have a problem, my heart beats really fast.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
25.	I cannot think clearly.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
26.	I suddenly start to tremble or shake when there is no reason for this.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
27.	I worry that something bad will happen to me.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
28.	When I have a problem, I feel shaky.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
29.	I feel worthless.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
30.	I worry about making mistakes.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
31.	I have to think of special thoughts (like numbers or words) to stop had things	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always

from happening.

32.	I worry what other people think of me.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
33.	I am afraid of being in crowded places (like shopping centers, the movies, buses, busy playgrounds).	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
34.	All of a sudden, I feel really scared for no reason at all.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
35.	I worry about what is going to happen.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
36.	I suddenly become dizzy or faint when there is no reason for this.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
37.	I think about death.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
38.	I feel afraid if I have to talk in front of my class.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
39.	My heart suddenly starts to beat too quickly for no reason.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
40.	I feel like I don't want to move.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
41.	I worry that I will suddenly get a scared feeling when there is nothing to be afraid of.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
42.	I have to do some things over and over again (like washing my hands, cleaning or putting things in a certain order).	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
43.	I feel afraid that I will make a fool of myself in front of people.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
44.	I have to do some things in just the right way to stop bad things from happening.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
45.	I worry when I go to bed at night.	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
46.	I would feel scared if I had to stay away from home overnight.	Never	Sometimes	Otten	Always
47.	I feel restless	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always

## APPENDIX F

Memorial's Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research (ICEHR)

Approval Letter

Memorial's Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research (ICEHR)

July 30, 2010

#### ICEHR No. 2009/10-162-SC

Ms. Stephanie Fung Department of Psychology Memorial University of Newfoundland

Dear Ms. Fung:

Thank you for your e-mail correspondence of July 28, 2010 addressing the issues raised by the Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research (ICEHR) concerning your research project "Parene-child relationships and Athild amring".

The ICEHR has re-examined the proposal with the classification and revisions submitted and is instituted that concerns raised by the Committee have been adequately addressed. In accordance with the *Dri-Concell Policy Statement on Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS)*, the project has been granted *full white Cherrowe for one* year from the date of this letter.

If you instand to make changes during the course of the project which may give rise to ethical concerns, places forward a description of these changes to Mrs. Brends Lye at <u>blyesilmum cn</u> for the Committee's consideration.

The TCPS requires that you submit an annual intras report on your project to the ICEHR, should the research carry on beyond July 2011. Also to comply with the TCPS, planse notify us upon completion or your project.

We wish you success with your research.

Yours sincerely,

Lawrence F. Felt, Ph.D. Chair, Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research

LE/en

copy: Supervisor - Dr. Sarah Francis, Department of Psychology

Telephone: (709) 737 2561 / 737 2561

Fax: (709) 737 4612

Pagelofi

## APPENDIX G

Eastern School District Ethics Approval Letter

Champerson: Millow Peach

### Eastern School District Ethics Approval Letter



Office of the Assistent Director Eneral Education and Corporate Services Dr. Albert Dauk

Telephone. 709-756-2341

Aunual 10, 2010

Sts Stephanie Fong Psychology Dapt, Science Building Memorial University St. John's, NJ, A1B XXP

Dear Mc Fang

## R.D. Research Request - "Porene-child relationships and child anxiog".

Thank you for your email correspondence dated August 23, 2010 requesting oppreval to conduct research within the Eastern School District.

Please be advised that permission has been granted to conduct your research study.

It is the expectation of the Eastern School District that the requirements of this our research policy be rescale advantation of the conduct of the research.

Think you for involving Eastern School District in what appears to be a very worthwhile study. Our triacks forward to receiving a copy of the results of your study.

Please feel feer to contact this office should you have further questions.

Knowedy.

A. Shark

Dr. Albert Trick Assistant Director Raral Education and Corporate Services

ph.

Suite 601, Aduntic Place, 215 Winter Street Son 84-66, 30, Johnris, NL, ASC 6C9 Telephone: 208-258-2343 Factomic: 299-256-238

# APPENDIX H

Letter to Principals and Teachers

### Letter to Principals and Teachers

Dear Principals and Teachers,

Wy name is Stephanie Fung and I am a graduate student in the Department of Psychology at Memorial University. I am hoping that I may interest you in a research project about childhood anxive). I am writing to you to request permission to solicit participants at your convenience. Please find below information concerning my study and the potential involvement in your school.

### Purpose of the Study

Anxiety is one of the most commonly recognized ferms of psychoptabology in children and adolescents; yet, denjet is high prevationes, associated rife faitchear set uill no fully understood. Previous work has suggested that parental overprotection is a rife factor for child anxiety and research efforts are now focusing on identifying and mechanisms to explain the relationship between parental overprotection and child anxiety. The purpose of 0 meroset nates it to examine thoughts and feelings related to anxiety, such as locasi of control and perfectionism, which may explain the relationship between parental overproteion and definit anxiety.

### Procedure and time commitment

This study will measure anxious thoughts and feelings of the child, parental overprotection as perceived by the child, child locus of control, and child perfectionism in a school sample of students between ages 8 - 18. The study seeks to recruit 70 students from each of three groups (grades 3 & 4; 7 & 8; 11 & 12) across multiple schools in the Eastern School District, vielding at cold sample size of 210 participants.

Participants with parental consent will be given a questionnaire package consisting of 5 questionnaires. The package will be administered within a 40 minute session at a time during the school day that is convenient for the student participants and their teachers.

At the beginning of the session, the questionnaire packages will be given out and there will be an assent form attached to the front. It is at this time that participants who do not wish to participate in the study may leave the session. After completion of the session, the questionnaires will be collected, and will only be identifiable by the participant number. There will be no link between participant name and number from this point on.

### Foreseeable Risks and Benefits

There are few foreseeable risks or benefits to participation; however, there is a slight risk of mild discomfort involved when reading the items on the questionnaires. This risk is uncommon. All participants will be informed that they can terminate their participation at any point, and suffer no consequences whatsoever for doing so. Also, my supervisor, Dr. Sarnh Francis, is a Registered Clinical Psychologist. Beh as worked extensively with children, parents, and families. Dr. Francis will be on call during the time the questionnaires are being administered, so that in the unlikely event a participant is in distress, she will be available to come to the school and provide assistance.

### Confidentiality

Participant data will be anonymous. There will be no link between the participant and his or her questionnaire data. All forms will be coded with only the participant's study code (to other identifying information will be on these forms). The paper copies of the forms will be retained by the principal researcher. Information will be accessible by only the researcher and the supervisor of the researcher.

#### Consent

Study questionnaires will only be given to a child if written evidence of both parental consent and child assent has been obtained. Children who do not wish to participate at any time before or during the study may stop their participation at any time. Any data collected from these children will be destroyed.

### School Resources

To conduct this study I would like to use some space, at your convenience, in the school to administer the questionnaires to the participants as a group. I would only need for the teachers to allow an add/ea a research assistant to make a brief announcement about the study in the classroom and to collect the consent forms. Everything will be at the convenience of the school and in coordination with the children's schedules.

### Findings from this Study

Following the completion of data collection in this study, a summary of the findings will be available to you. If a causal mechanism is found between parental overprotection and child anxiety, it may be identified as a potential risk factor for childhood anxiety, which could improve the identification of children who are at risk for developing anxiety.

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this investigation please feel free to contact me by email: <u>stephanic.fung@mun.ca</u> or by phone: 749-4723. You can also contact my supervisor, Dr. Sarah Francis, by email: <u>strancis@mun.ca</u> or by phone: 864 - 4897.

The proposal for this research has been reviewed by the Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research and found to be in compliance with Memorial University's ethics policy. If you have ethical concerns about the research (such as the way you have been treated or your rights as a participant), you may contact the **Chairperson of the ICEIRR at iteefrigumunca** or by telephone at (**709**) **864-3861**.

Thank you for your consideration and I look forward to hearing from you.

## APPENDIX I

Classroom Script

### Classroom Script

Hello,

My name is \_\_\_\_\_\_ and I am a graduate student studying psychology at the University. We are conducting a study on children's thoughts and feelings and their parents' behaviours. We are looking for students to take part in the study.

If you decide to take part, you will be asked to fill out some questionnaires. You will be asked questions solve thory souge at long with your parents and the kinds of things your parents do with you at home, as well as questions about how you fed and think about hings. Many of the questions will ask about how you fed and think about as how, your particular you have been parents fed about hung you do. For example, a question might be "Your how the solution of the sense of the solution of the solution of the solution of the solution of the answers) you could be chosen would be "read" or "failed".

All of your responses will be anonymous – that means that no will ever associate your answers with your name or that no one will be able to tell what your answers were on these questionnaires. It should take between thirty and forty minutes to complete the questionnaires, and you will fill out the questionnaires at school.

In order to take part in the study, you will need the permission of a parent of guardian. I am going to pass around some information sheets now for you to take home to your parent/guardian. Please return the permission slip to your homeroom teacher whether your parent says "yes" or "yoo".

Even if your parents have given permission for you to participate, your participation is entirely voluntary – this means that it is up to you whether you take part in this study or not. You can leave out any question's that you do not want to answer. Taking part in this study is not related to your schoolwork or grades in any way.

Does anyone have any questions?

## APPENDIX J

Letter to Parents/Informed Consent

Letter to Parents/Informed Consent

Dear Parents,

My name is Stephanie Fung and I am a graduate student in Psychology at Memorial University. The Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research and the Eastern School District School Board have granted me permission to conduct a study of children about feelings of anxiety. I am hoping that I may interest you and your child in this study. Details of the study are cuitined in the matched consent form.

Please read the attached consent form carefully, If, after reading this form, you are interested in your child participating in the study, please complete the lat page of the consent form and sign your name and write the date on the last page. In addition to parent consent, your child will also have to eagree to participate and this is entirely voluntary even if you have consented to the study. If your child agrees to participate, they are free not to answer any question's that they do not want to answer.

If you are not interested in your child participating in this study, please return the blank consent form to your child's teacher.

Please return this form to your child's teacher by:

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study please feel free to contact me by email: <u>stephanic, fungtann.ca</u> or by phone: 749-4732. You can also contact my supervisor. Pro. Sarah Francis, by email: <u>sfrancistanum.ca</u> or by phone: 864 - 4897.

The proposal for this research has been reviewed by the Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research and found to be in compliance with Memorial University's ethics policy. If you have ethical concerns about the research (such as the way you have been reseated or your rights as a participant), you may contact the Chainerson of the ICHIR at icherömme, or or by telephone at (709) 864-2861.

Thank you for your time in reviewing these materials. Sincerely,

Stephanie Fung MSc. Candidate (Experimental Clinical) Psychology Department Memorial University of Newfoundland St. John's, NL, Canada, A1B 3X9 Tel (709) 749-4723 mail: stephanie, fung/@mun.ca Sarah Francis Assistant Professor Psychology Department Memorial University of Newfoundland St. John's, NL, Canada A1B 3X9 Tel (709) 864 – 4897 email: sfrancis@mun.ca

### Parent/Guardian Informed Consent Form

Title: Parent-Child Relationships and Child Anxiety Researcher: Stephanic Fung

### What is the project about?

Some children may experience feelings of anxiety. This project is looking at factors that may be related to feelings of anxiety in school aged children. Some of these factors may be related to parent-child relationships or the way children think about things.

## How will my child be involved?

The participants in this project will fill out 5 questionniars. There will also be a form where the child will million whether here on the winds to take part in the project. It is at this time that children who do not wish to take part in the project million whether they felt these are some samples italiantensis where your child would mark down whether they felt the statements were true for them, and i so, how much: "*interposed for hingg* days and *state of a state o* 

### What are the possible risks and benefits?

There are no expected or likely risks or discomforts. The supervisor of the researcher is available to any participant with questions or concerns. She is a Registered Clinical Psychologist and has worked with children, parents, and families.

It is not known whether this project will benefit your child. Some potential benefits to your child could include learning new vocabulary and having practice reading.

### Liability statement:

Signing this form gives us your consent for your child to be in this project. It tells us that you understand the information about the research project. When you sign this form, you do not give up your legal rights.

### What about my child's privacy and confidentiality?

Information your child provides on the questionnaires is confidential. Your child's responses will remain anonymous. Your child's name or any information that can identify your child will never be associated with presentations, reports, or articles using information collected in this project.

If you have any questions about your child taking part in this project, please contact the researcher Stephanie Fung 749-4723 or her supervisor Dr. Sarah Francis 864-4897.

The proposal for this research has been reviewed by the Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research and found to be in compliance with Memorial University's ethics policy. If you have ethical concerns about the research (such as the way you have been treated or your rights as a participant), you may contact the **Chairperson of the** ICEHR at icehrgimunc.as or by telephone at (709) 864-2861.

### Signature Page

Project title: Parent-Child Relationships and Child Anxiety

Researcher: Stephanie Fung

To be filled out and signed by parent/guardian of the participant:

Your signature on this form means that:

- · You have read the information about the research
- · You have been able to ask questions about this study
- · You are satisfied with the answers to all of your questions
- · You understand what the study is about and what your child will be doing
- You understand that your child is free to withdraw from the study at any time, without having to give a reason, and that doing so will not affect your child now or in the future.

If you sign this form, you do not give up your legal rights, and do not release the researchers from their professional responsibilities.

I agree for my child to take part in this project.

Yes [ ] No [ ]

Name of Child:

First name

Last name

Signature of parent/guardian

Date

## APPENDIX K

Study Instructions

### Study Instructions

#### Instructions will be read aloud to all participants.

You will be presented with a series of five short questionnaires and a short form asking some questions about you, such as how old you are. Please answer the questions honestly and accurately.

Your answers will be anonymous – this means that your answers will only have a number on them, not your name. No one will know what answers you have given, and no one will ask you any questions about your answers. Please do not write your name anywhere on the questionnaires.

You can leave out any question's that you do not want to answer. You can ask the researcher questions at any point during the study. If at any time you become uncomfortable with the study you can stop filling out the questionnaires without penalty whatsoever. If you become uncomfortable at any point during the study, please let the researcher know.

Your participation in this study is entirely voluntary – this means that it is up to you whether you take part in this study or not. Taking part in this study is not related to your schoolwork or grades in any way.

Thank you for taking part in this study.
## APPENDIX L

Correlation analyses using anxiety subscales

#### Correlation analyses using anxiety subscales

Correlation analyses of the EMBU-C\_C/O, the NSLOC-C, and the RCADS (SAD, SP, OCD) in the full sample (N = 146)

Measure	EMBU-C	RCADS_ SAD	RCADS_ OCD	RCADS_ PD	RCADS_ SP	RCADS_ GAD
NSLOC-C	.23**	.13	.32**	.25**	.22**	.23**
EMBU-C		.36**	.41**	.23**	.20*	.19*

Nace, Promos correlations; EMULC\_CO = "My memories of Ophringing" Child version. Counted Overprotection subscule; SSLOCC = Norsicki Strickland Leons of Control Scule for childrox; RELDS\_SLD = Revised Child Assisty and Depression Scule, Separation Assisty Doroler subscule; RCLDS\_OD = Observice-Computatione Disorder subscule; RCLDS\_DD = Notice Disorder subscule; RCLDS\_SD = South Photos Inschool: RCLDS\_GAD = South Children absorder.

\*p < .05, \*\*p < .01

### APPENDIX M

Mediation and moderation analyses using the RCADS\_SAD subscale

	RCADS_SAD						
Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	В	SE	β	r		
Step 1	.24						
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		2.10	.97	26	2.16*		
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-2.12	.96	26	-2.22*		
Step 2	.06						
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		1.41	.96	.17	1.47		
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-2.23	.93	28	-2.41*		
EMBU-C_C/O		.22	.06	.25	3.37**		
Step 3	.00						
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		1.40	.97	.17	1.45		
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-2.23	.93	28	-2.40*		
EMBU-C C/O		.21	.07	.25	3.27**		
NSLOC-C		.01	.08	.01	.14		
Total R <sup>2</sup>	.30						
Sobel test (z-value = .12, p = .90)							
	RCADS_SAD						
Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	В	SE	β	1		
Step 1	.24						
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		2.10	.97	26	2.16*		
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-2.12	.96	26	-2.22*		
Step 2	.06						
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		1.41	.96	.17	1.47		
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-2.23	.93	28	-2.41*		
EMBU-C_C/O		.22	.06	.25	3.37**		
Step 3	.00						
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		1.43	.97	.18	1.47		
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-2.19	.94	27	-2.34*		
EMBU-C_C/O		.21	.07	.24	3.18**		
NSLOC-C		.01	.08	.01	.15		
EMBU-C C/O x NSLOC-C		.01	.01	.03	.41		

Mediation and moderation analyses using the RCADS\_SAD subscale

Neur EMBU-C\_CO = "My neuronies of Upbringing" Child version, Control-Overportection substrate; NEUC-C = Numicki Seriekland Lesco of Control Societ for Children; RCAID, SAD – Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scole, Separation Anxiety Disorder substrate; Age damony writables are coded so that Age L compares Group 1 to Group 2 and Age 2 compares Group 2 to Group 1; P = 0.4, \*P = 0.1

Total R2

## APPENDIX N

Mediation and moderation analyses using the RCADS OCD subscale

	RCADS_OCD						
Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	В	SE	β	1		
Step 1	.19						
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		3.37	1.04	.40	3.24**		
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		44	1.03	05	43		
Step 2	.08						
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		2.51	1.01	.30	2.48*		
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		57	.97	07	59		
EMBU-C_C/O		.27	.07	.30	4.07**		
Step 3	.04						
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		2.27	.99	.27	2.29*		
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		64	.95	08	67		
EMBU-C C/O		.24	.07	.26	3.54**		
NSLOC-C		.22	.08	.20	2.80**		
Total R <sup>2</sup>	.32						
Sobel test (z-value = 1.82, p = .07)							

Mediation and moderation analyses using the RCADS\_OCD subscale

		R	CADS_OC	D	
Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	В	SE	β	1
Step 1	.19				
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		3.37	1.04	.40	3.24**
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		44	1.03	05	43
Step 2	.08				
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		2.51	1.01	.30	2.48*
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		57	.97	07	59
EMBU-C_C/O		.27	.07	.30	4.07**
Step 3	.04				
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		2.32	1.00	.27	2.33*
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		57	.96	07	60
EMBU-C C/O		.23	.07	.26	3.43**
NSLOC-C		.22	.08	.20	2.80**
EMBU-C C/O x NSLOC-C		.01	.01	.04	.62
Total R <sup>2</sup>	.32				

Finda Rev EdBU-C\_CO = "My memories of Upbringing" Child version, Control/Overprotection mbscule; NSLOC-C = Nonichl-Streichland Locus of Control Society for Ohlforen; FCHIB, OCD = Revised Child Austery and Depression Scale, Obsessive-Compulsive Lower subscule; Age dummy wariables are coded to that Age Lowerser Group In Groups 2 and Age 2 computer Groups 2. To Pers 40, \*19 < 03, \*19 < 04.</p>

#### APPENDIX O

Mediation and moderation analyses using the RCADS PD subscale

	RCADS_PD						
Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	В	SE	β	1		
Step 1	.04						
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		43	1.52	04	28		
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-2.58	1.50	23	-1.72		
Step 2	.04						
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		-1.21	1.53	11	79		
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-2.70	1.48	24	-1.83		
EMBU-C_C/O		.25	.10	.21	2.44*		
Step 3	.04						
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		-1.54	1.51	14	-1.02		
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-2.79	1.45	25	-1.93		
EMBU-C C/O		.20	.10	.16	1.94		
NSLOC-C		.30	.12	.21	2.54*		
Total R <sup>2</sup>	.12						
Sobel test: (2-value = 1.74, p = .08)							

Mediation and moderation analyses using the RCADS PD subscale

Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	В	SE	β	1
Step 1	.04				
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		43	1.52	04	28
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-2.58	1.50	23	-1.72
Step 2	.04				
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		-1.21	1.53	11	79
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-2.70	1.48	24	-1.83
EMBU-C_C/O		.25	.10	.21	2.44*
Step 3	.04				
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		-1.45	1.51	13	96
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-2.67	1.46	24	-1.83
EMBU-C C/O		.19	.10	.16	1.83
NSLOC-C		.30	.12	.21	2.54*
EMBU-C_C/O x NSLOC-C		.02	.02	.06	.75
Total R <sup>2</sup>	.12				

From New, EMBL-C, C/O = "My memories of Upbringing" Child version, Control Deeprocection subscule; NSLOC: — Nonekd-Strickhand Locas of Control Scale for children; RCLDS, PD = Revised Child Anxiey and Depression Scale, Punic Disorder subscule; Age dummy variables are coded so that Age 1 compares Group 1 to Group 2 and Age 2 compares Group 2 to Group 3; Mp < .03, Mp < .01</p>

### APPENDIX P

Mediation and moderation analyses using the RCADS SP subscale

	RCADS_SP						
Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	в	SE	β	t		
Step 1	.05						
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		-3.86	1.47	35	-2.62*		
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-3.91	1.45	36	-2.69**		
Step 2	.06						
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		-4.78	1.47	43	-3.26**		
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-4.05	1.41	37	-2.86**		
EMBU-C_C/O		.29	.10	.25	3.01**		
Step 3	.04						
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		-5.10	1.45	46	-3.52**		
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-4.14	1.39	38	-2.98**		
EMBU-C C/O		.25	.10	.21	2.52*		
NSLOC-C		.28	.11	.20	2.52*		
Total R <sup>2</sup>	.15						

Mediation and moderation analyses using the RCADS SP subscale

	RCADS_SP						
Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	в	SE	β	1		
Step 1	.05						
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		-3.86	1.47	35	-2.62*		
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-3.91	1.45	36	-2.69**		
Step 2	.06						
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		-4.78	1.47	43	-3.26**		
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-4.05	1.41	37	-2.86**		
EMBU-C_C/O		.29	.10	.25	3.01**		
Step 3	.05						
Age I (Dummy variable)		-4.94	1.45	45	-3.42**		
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-3.92	1.39	0.36	-2.82**		
EMBU-C C/O		.23	.10	.19	2.33*		
NSLOC-C		.28	.11	.20	2.54*		
EMBU-C C/O x NSLOC-C		.03	.02	.11	1.42		
Total R <sup>2</sup>	.16						

Youn Kan, EMBU-C\_CO = "Mry menusies of Upbringing" Child version, ControlOverprotection subscule; NSLOC C = Vonsicki-Strickland Leseu of Control Roads for children; RCHOS SP = Revised Child Anxiey and Depression Scale, Social Phothia nubreale; Age dammy variables are coded so that Age 1 compares Group 1 to Group 2 and Age 2 compares Group 2 to Group 3; by C-00; by -0.01

# APPENDIX Q

Mediation and moderation analyses using the RCADS\_GAD subscale

	RCADS_GAD					
Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	В	SE	β	1	
Step 1	.04					
Age I (Dummy variable)		-1.74	1.10	21	-1.59	
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-2.44	1.08	30	-2.25*	
Step 2	.04					
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		-2.32	1.10	28	-2.10*	
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-2.53	1.06	31	-2.38*	
EMBU-C_C/O		.18	.07	.21	2.49*	
Step 3	.04					
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		-2.56	1.09	31	-2.35*	
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-2.59	1.05	32	-2.48*	
EMBU-C C/O		.15	.07	.17	2.00*	
NSLOC-C		.21	.09	.21	2.51*	
Total R <sup>2</sup>	.12					
Solid text: (5.000 and 1.68, m = (00)						

Mediation and moderation analyses using the RCADS\_GAD subscale

	RCADS_GAD				
Predictor	$\Delta R^2$	В	SE	β	ī
Step 1	.04				
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		-1.74	1.10	21	-1.59
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-2.44	1.08	30	-2.25*
Step 2	.04				
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		-2.32	1.10	28	-2.10*
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-2.53	1.06	31	-2.38*
EMBU-C_C/O		.18	.07	.21	2.49*
Step 3	.05				
Age 1 (Dummy variable)		-2.45	1.09	30	-2.25*
Age 2 (Dummy variable)		-2.44	1.05	30	-2.33*
EMBU-C C/O		.14	.07	.16	1.82
NSLOC-C		.21	.08	.21	2.53*
EMBU-C_C/O x NSLOC-C		.02	.02	.11	1.36
Total R <sup>2</sup>	13				

Note: EMBUC\_CO = "My memories of Upbringing" Child version, Control Deerprotection subscale; NEDC-C = Nonsield-Strickland Locus of Control Scale for children; ECLDS: GLD = Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scale; Generalized Anxiety Disorder subscale; Age dammy variables are coded so and ege 1 compares Group 1 to Group 2 and ege 2 compares Group 2 to Group  $\frac{1}{2}$  to  $\frac{1}{2}$ ,  $\frac{1}{2}$   $\ll$  5,  $\frac{1}{2}$   $\frac{1}{2}$   $\ll$  5,  $\frac{1}{2}$   $\frac{1}{2}$   $\ll$  5,  $\frac{1}{2}$   $\frac{1}$ 







